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Prologue
No matter how many times Jimmy reads the letter, it still says the same thing. He crumples it in his hand and tosses it toward the garbage can; it falls short and lands on the floor. He cradles his head in his open hands and begins to cry. Where am I going to get $250,000, he thinks to himself, and how am I going to tell Julie that I can’t afford to keep her alive?
“Daddy! Daddy! Are you down there? Daddy, I need a glass of water.”
“Alright Julie honey, I will be right up.” Jimmy gets up from the table, wipes his eyes and walks over to the sink; he fills a glass half way with water, lets out a sigh, and heads toward the stairs. Each step cries out a squeaky protest as Jimmy ascends. He walks into the small bedroom, and cannot help but smile. Julie is sitting up in her bed, grinning from ear to ear, absolutely glowing.
“What took you so long; I thought I was going to die of thirst?” She barely finishes her sentence before breaking out into laughter. Jimmy joins her and almost falls over.
No matter how down he got, it only took one look at his beautiful, brave, amazing eleven year old daughter to bring him out of the dumps. There are no secrets between Jimmy and Julie, not since Jenny had died six years ago. Jimmy never got to fully grieve the loss of his wife; he was too busy consoling his daughter on the loss of her Mother. So there were no secrets when the doctors told Jimmy that both of Julie’s kidneys were failing; he sat Julie down and gave it to her straight. He was amazed that a seven year old girl, just two years removed from losing her mother, took the news that she was now dying, so well.
So for the past four years, Jimmy and Julie have been dealing with living life one day at a time. The expenses continued to pile up, Julie got weaker and Jimmy got more and more worried. When the phone call from the hospital came last week, saying that a prospective donor had just been taken off of life support, Jimmy was ecstatic. When the letter from the insurance company came today, Jimmy was crushed. He had already taken a second mortgage on the house to pay for the weekly dialysis. He had borrowed the maximum allowable amount from his 401k, and all of the life insurance from Jenny was long gone. He had no idea how he was going to come up with the co-payment needed for Julie’s transplant surgery, and he knew he had to tell her, just not tonight.



Chapter 1
Jimmy is just pulling out of the driveway when his cell phone begins ringing. He answers it immediately, not even checking the caller ID. “What did I forget honey?” Jimmy says, expecting to hear Julie’s voice.
“Mr. Gaston, do you have a moment to speak with me?”
“What, who is this?”
“Mr. Gaston…Jimmy, my name is Jacob Smitz. I represent an individual, who wishes to remain anonymous, that would like to help you pay for your daughter’s surgery. I have been authorized to offer you $750,000, cash, in exchange for performing a service for my client.”
“What, how do you know about Julie, I don’t understand, what kind of service?”
“Jimmy let’s not beat around the bush here. I am quite sure if you think hard enough you will be able to figure out what my client is interested in. Now I don’t believe that it is prudent to continue our conversation right now. A courier will deliver a package to you right after you pull into your parking space at work; open the package, read the note inside and then hand it back to the courier. Goodbye.”
“Wait just a minute. Hello. Hello?”
Jimmy drives the rest of the way in silence, barely paying attention to anything. Luckily he has made the drive to Syscorp thousands of times, so it was pretty much second nature. He slows down to the posted five miles an hour, and holds his identification card out the window, up to the security guard, Ralph. Ralph waves him through immediately, “Good morning Mr. Gaston.”
Jimmy waves back. Ralph had been at the front guard booth twelve years ago when Jimmy showed up for his first day of work, and has been there every day since. The idling white van catches his eye before he pulls into his parking spot. He wonders how it has gotten past Ralph, and then notices the stencil on the side of the van ‘EmStat Medical Delivery Service.’
Before he can put the transmission into park the driver of the van is at his window with a sealed envelope. “Mr. Gaston, I have instructions to collect this back after you read it.” He extends the envelope toward the open window. Jimmy takes it, and looks at the man. 
He tears open the envelope, and removes a single sheet of plan paper with one sentence typed in the middle, Farachis, 7:30 pm, tonight!
The man reaches into the car, retrieves the envelope from Jimmy’s lap, and paper from his hands. “Excuse me Mr. Gaston.” He places the paper back into the envelope and brings the flame from a Zippo lighter up to the corner as he walks back to the idling van. He is pulling out of the parking lot, waving to Ralph before Jimmy gets out of his vehicle.
Farachis is an upscale restaurant down in the cultural district. Jenny had always wanted to go there when they were dating. Jimmy gets out of the car and starts walking toward the building.
He weaves his way through the concrete reinforced bollards that alternate every three feet. He steps onto the RSMS (Random Speed Moving Sidewalk) and places his ID card into the activation slot. The RSMS was designed to alternate between speeds of one to fifteen miles per hour along the 2500 foot distance from the parking lot to the building. The concept being that it could never be calculated how long it would take an individual to get from the parking lot to the building, thus deterring preset explosive devices.



Chapter 2
Syscorp is really just a front for the government. All employees are former, or current something…Military, CIA, FBI, DOD etc. It is a ‘CYA’ (cover your ass) policy for high ranking officials that need to have plausible deniability if and when the shit ever hits the fan. The series of buildings and underground bunkers are situated across 10 acres in the town of Apollo Pennsylvania. Apollo is a combination suburban, farming community. At one time it had been on the fore front of coal mining and atomic power.
A small mishap at another ‘government front’ company (Nuclear Materials and Equipment Corporation) NUMEC, had put Apollo on the map. A cover story had been scripted and executed to cover up over 200 pounds of missing enriched uranium. Speculation at the time was that, to cover up the sale of the uranium to an overseas ally of America, amounts of uranium dust were spread around the Babcock and Wilcox power generating facility. Contamination was found in the ground water, sewer lines and Kiskiminetas River. A full scale spill was reported and the land and river around the North Apollo facility was quickly quarantined. Scripted investigations by the Atomic Energy Commission, the Central Intelligence Agency, the Federal Bureau of Investigation and other government agencies found no evidence of anything other than a minor leak in the area. Within three years of the incident, one of America’s most strategic allies in the Middle East had developed a mid-range atomic missile.
In addition to the ground Syscorp occupied, a sister company, H.G. Inc., holds the title on the surrounding 10 acres. Unless the government wants you to, nobody gets close to Syscorp. The closest piece of commercial property is a rundown biker bar, Valhalla, about 20 miles down the highway; the closest privately owned house is five miles from Valhalla. 
On either side of the two lane blacktop, State Route 166, stretching from Syscorp past Valhalla to the sparely populated town of Muleton, is a man-made swamp, willow bog. The government did not want to chance some commercial developer sniffing around wanting to buy any land. Great efforts were taken to redirect drainage ditches, reservoir overflows, and small community creeks and streams to ensure that willow bog stayed wet, muddy and unsuitable for development. As an extra precaution the EPA put strict regulations into place —which of course Syscorp and H.G. Inc. were immune from— to protect the natural habitat of the Northern Bog Turtle and the Dwarf Wedge mussel; both species conveniently discovered for the first time right after Syscorp was constructed.



Chapter 3
Jimmy removes his ID from the slot and places the lanyard around his neck as he approaches the front door. He doesn’t bother reading the sign explaining the entry procedure, because he wrote it. He enters the small corridor and waits for the door to latch behind him. He closes his eyes as the overhead fans, and underfoot vacuums activate. Syscorp is a ‘clean’ environment. This is the first, of three, sterilization chambers that everyone entering the building passes through. Out of the first corridor, into the next where the bacteria killing ultra violet light baths his body as he walks through. Finally he enters the final of the initial three checkpoints, the full body scan, verifying that he has nothing non-organic (explosive material, composite plastic, etc.)
Jeff is waiting for him at the end of the third hallway with the metal detecting wand. “Good morning Mr. Gaston, car keys and briefcase on the belt please.” He traces the wand around Jimmy as a computer analyzes the x-ray image of his briefcase and keys. “Have a good day Sir,” Jeff says when he finishes the scan.
Jimmy nods his reply as he walks toward his office. He is still in a funk over his mysterious phone call and letter. He approaches the elevator and places his thumb on the finger print reader. After a few seconds, a small panel slides open revealing the up and down buttons; Jimmy presses the down button. He exits the elevator and walks down the hall to his office. He places his chin on the plastic ledge and allows both of his retinas to be scanned. Once the computer confirms his identity, the door to his office unbolts and allows him to enter. This is one of the most secure buildings in the country. Only a confirmed natural disaster emergency (fire, earthquake, tornado etc.) can or would override the security functionality of the building.
He only has a few minutes until his first meeting of the day is scheduled to begin. He decides to stop by the cafeteria for a coffee before heading to the conference hall.



Chapter 4
The security of the conference hall is twice as intense as the entrance to the building. Passing a body scan, x-ray, physical pat down, radio wave sweep and retina scan is the only way in. Jimmy takes his seat at the table, behind his name plate, ‘James Gaston, R&D’. Jimmy’s boss, Dr. Ross Gandle, will be running the meeting. Ross is the acting Director of Research and Development for Syscorp East Coast operations. Ross does a quick headcount, confirms the number with his console screen, and presses the enter key on his keyboard. The door closes and a series of bolts engage. The lights in the room dim, and a random sampling of ‘cover music’ begins to play on the overhead speakers. Everyone in the room puts a head set on. Each headset has an onboard random DNA analyzer that validates the wearer. The entire meeting will be held via computer synchronization. Participants will type what they want to say on keyboards in front of them, and then the text will be encrypted and converted to audio. The audio will then be delivered only to the headsets that have been validated. 
Ross begins by calling the meeting to order and introducing the key guest, General Michael Balchor, Advocate Assistant to the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff. “General Balchor is here today for an update to project RE-AN, so that he can persuade the President to release more funding. I am going to turn the presentation over to Jimmy Gaston since he is heading up the project.”
“Thank You Ross. Ladies and Gentlemen, General, I will keep this as concise as possible. Project RE-AN is proceeding on schedule, we have successfully conducted isolation on what we believe to be the primary vector strain of the DNA, and are prepared to begin trials on laboratory subjects. As everyone here knows, security is the most important phase of the laboratory trials. We are probably one week away from final selection of the security team. Secondary background checks are being initiated…”
“Excuse me Mr. Gaston,” General Balchor interrupts, “I know a thing or two about security and security clearances. Don’t you think running secondary background checks on Secret Service Agents, Navy SEALS, Marine Snipers and Air Force One reserve pilots is a little bit redundant and more to the point, a waste of tax payer’s money?”
“General, with all due respect, what we are dealing with has the potential to change all mankind; I do not think that we can be too cautious when it comes to security.” Jimmy pauses for dramatic effect. “Now, as I was saying, we hope to have the security team in place by late next week. After that, we will arrange for the transfer of the test subjects and begin phase one of testing. The encrypted dossier on each of your computers will be available for review up to one hour after the meeting adjourns. It should give you a general idea of the clinical timeline we hope to achieve during phase one. Are there any questions? Yes, General.”
“Aw hell Jimmy, sorry about busting your balls over security, I should know better. My boss would like to know what percentage of Specimen Zulu is being utilized for phase one and more specifically what piece?” (Specimen Zulu is the declassified codename for Specimen Benin-Nzambi-001.) 
Jimmy graduated from West Point with Mike Balchor, so he knew that the security dig was coming from the White House, not him. “Mike, there is approximately 95% of Specimen Zulu still intact at the storage facility. It was decided to utilize 5% for testing purposes, we chose the left hand, and four researchers were given a digit. The remainder of the hand is being kept onsite, in auxiliary storage.” 
Actually, that was not 100% true, but then even Mike only had so much ‘need to know’. The thumb was actually severed from the hand, separated at the knuckle joint and suspended in cryogenic animation. Each section is stored inside small cryogenic storage freezers located in Jimmy and Ross’s offices. It was Ross’s idea; he called it a job security blanket, just in case the White House ever decided to deny access to Specimen Zulu.
Mike walks Jimmy back to his office after the meeting. “Again, sorry about the security crack Jimmy.”
“No hard feelings Mike, I know who you work for.” They both laugh.
“You want to go grab something to eat?”
“I would love to Mike, but I had a terrible headache when I came in this morning, only reason I didn’t bail was because of the meeting. I am going to go home. Stop up next week, we will get together and have a celebratory drink, if all goes well.”
“Jimmy, listen. You have to make sure everything goes well. I am hearing scuttlebutt that funding is becoming an issue. You have to show some progress, or I am afraid that you are going to get cut off.”
“Thanks for the heads up Mike, see you next week.”



Chapter 5
“I am sorry honey; it is a business dinner, work thing, you know.” Jimmy is explaining (lying) to Julie why he has to go out. “You like Mrs. Fenton, and you like pizza, so what is the big deal?”
“I don’t know; something just doesn’t seem right.” Julie answers. “Who are you meeting with?” 
“Julie, I don’t have time for twenty questions, I will be back by ten at the latest, see you then.” He kisses her on the forehead and walks out of her room. 
Julie knows her Dad is not telling her the whole truth. She is sure it is a business dinner, but her dad is not meeting with anyone from work. She reaches under her pillow and pulls out the crumpled letter. She wonders if her dad is meeting somebody from the insurance company. She folds the letter up and puts it back under her pillow. She has decided that if he doesn’t tell her about it before he says goodnight that she will show him the letter. Of course then he will know that she has been out of her bed and downstairs, which would blow her cover; a risk she is willing to take.
“Thanks again Mrs. Fenton, I will be back by ten.” Jimmy says as he walks out the front door toward his car. He pulls out of the driveway, and heads toward Farachis.



Chapter 6
As he pulls up in front of Farachis; a valet meets him and trades a ticket stub for his car keys. He walks up to the front entrance, and reads the printed sign taped to the door, Closed for Private Function. He tries the door, but finds it locked. Shit, why the hell did the valet take my car if he knew the restaurant was closed? He gets his answer a second later when the valet reappears. “Go down the alley, around back to the loading dock, someone will meet you.”
Jimmy walks down the alley, cautiously, to the back of the restaurant; a tall man in a suit is standing at the end of the alley.
“Mr. Gaston, so glad you could make it. Jacob Smitz at your service; we spoke this morning. Please come on in, the first course should just be arriving.”
Jimmy follows Jacob into Farachis. They walk through the kitchen, past the bar out into the main dining area. The room is empty, except for one man sitting at a round table sucking oysters out of the half shell. He calls them over to join him. Jacob stops halfway, “have a pleasant meal Mr. Gaston.”
The man at the table looks up, and points to the only other chair at the table. “Have a seat Mr. Gaston. May I call you Jimmy?” Jimmy just nods. “I am glad you came, hopefully I can help you and your daughter out of this predicament you are in.”
“Look, I do not know who you are, but obviously you have some kind of clout to get Farachis all to yourself on a Friday night. I only came to tell you that I am not interested in whatever you are selling. No disrespect, but no thank you.” Jimmy gets up from the chair.
“Jimmy, please, sit back down. Have something to eat and let me talk. What harm is there in eating a good meal and listening to a lucrative proposal?”
Reluctantly, Jimmy sits back down. Out of nowhere a waiter appears and places a plate of steaming pasta in front of him. Just as quickly, the waiter is gone.
“I hope you don’t mind, but I prefer anonymity. I am not sure if you know who I am or not, but I do not intend to introduce myself. Just call me Mr. V. First of all, I know all about project RE-AN. I know what it is, what you are trying to do, and most importantly I know about Specimen Zulu.”
Jimmy is in shock. Project RE-AN is classified Top Secret. That means that nobody, not Jimmy, not Ross, not even the President knows everything about it. That is the purpose of layered security; each person only knows enough to do his or her own part.
Mr. V smiles. “Surprised? Don’t be. I am like an octopus, a hand stirring every pot. Now, I believe my associate gave you a price, which is not negotiable, so now I will tell you what I am interested in buying. You may think I want your notes, or some classified documents…nothing that complicated. I just want the piece of severed thumb that is in the cryogenic freezer in your office.”
Jimmy drops his fork and tries to get up from the table. A firm hand on his shoulder helps him back to his seat.
“Thank you Bobby, but I think we will be fine now, right Jimmy?”
Jimmy nods in agreement, and once again is alone with his host. “How can you possibly know about the thumb?”
Mr. V just smiles again. “Jimmy, just hear me out. And please do not give me any of this I love my country bullshit. Has your country ever loved you back? I know exactly who you love…you love your daughter, and she is dying right in front of your eyes, so you decide do you want to love your country and go to your daughters funeral, or do you want to make a deal?”
“Even if I wanted to, there is no way I could get it out of the facility, the security is relentless. Look, I do not think you have done your homework here.” Mr. V just laughs. He reaches into his pocket and tosses something, a small shiny package, on the table. Jimmy picks it up, and looks at Mr. V.
Jimmy shrugs his shoulders. “I don’t get it.”
“And they told me you were smart. Let me give you the rundown. Now what I know is that a cryogenically frozen thumb will remain completely stable one hour after being removed from the freezer. I also know that nothing that isn’t organic is going to make it past the security scans. So let me tell you how you are going to get that thumb out of your office, and back into this portable freezer in under an hour.” Mr. V places a cylinder, which resembled a soda can, on the table.
Jimmy picks up the can and smiles. “Didn’t I see a guy use something like this in a movie? I don’t like how it ended for that guy.”
“That was a movie, this is real. Now wipe that smile off your face and listen up or you will end up like the guy in the movie.” 
Jimmy listens in absolute amazement as Mr. V lays out his plan. It is actually ingenious. Obviously, whoever this Mr. V is, he has someone deep inside Syscorp; probably more than one person based on the details he has.
Jimmy leaves Farachis in awe. After almost 25 years in the business, thinking he knew all there was to know about security, Mr. V blew that theory out of the water. Mr. V indicated that he wanted an answer before Monday. If the answer was yes, he was to go to a Mom and Pop ice cream stand, Creamers, across town, and ask for an Italian ice. He was to say that Mr. V recommended the place. He would be given a package with instructions, and a down payment of $250,000 in cash. If the answer was no, he was to do nothing. He decided to make one stop on the way home; he wanted to check out the ice cream stand. He got Julie two scoops of her favorite and went home to face the inquisition.



Chapter 7
The digital dashboard clock reads 9:56pm when he pulls into the driveway; one promise kept. He thanks Mrs. Fenton, pays her and sends her on her way. He transfers the pistachio ice cream into a serving dish and drizzles it with chocolate sauce. Before he leaves the kitchen he opens the cabinet above the refrigerator, takes out a bottle of bourbon and swallows a deep draw of liquid courage.
“I brought my favorite girl her favorite treat.” He says walking into bedroom.
“Bribery, huh? Well, this outta be good.” Julie smirks as she sits up and reaches for the ice cream.
“Listen Jules, I got something I need to talk to you about. Something I’ve been putting off.” Julie puts the spoon down. “I heard from the hospital, they found a donor, the procedure could be scheduled as early as next week.”
Julie smiled, “Ya, but?”
“Ya, but what?”
“Come on Dad, if there wasn’t going to be a ya, but; then there wouldn’t be any ice cream. So give it to me straight.”
“You are too smart for a little girl. Ya, but the insurance company needs the co-payment before the surgery, $250,000.”
Julie picked the spoon back up. “So, there will be another donor. I am sure that there is someone who needs the kidney more than I do anyway.”
This is why Jimmy loves her so much. “Why am I not surprised to hear you say that? There may never be another donor with two kidneys that are a perfect match. No sweetheart, this is it.” He moves closer to her on the bed. “That is what my meeting was about tonight. I have an opportunity to make some money, enough to pay for your surgery, and then some.”
“Doing what? You are not going to have to work more, are you? I mean…Daddy you look so tired. I can wait.” She begins to cry. Jimmy joins her.
“Not this time. No more waiting. You do not have to worry about anything; I am going to take care of everything.” He made up his mind right then, he was going through with it, to hell with his country; he wants to see his daughter blow out the candles on her 12th birthday cake.



Chapter 8
Saturday came and went. Jimmy got up early Sunday morning and made breakfast, pancakes and sausage, for him and Julie. He carried Julie downstairs to the dining room and they sat and talked away most of the morning while eating. Julie is none too happy to learn that she is going to be flying to California to have the surgery. Jimmy does his best to explain that the medical facility in Los Angeles is the best in the country.
He is just finishing up the dishes, and draining the last of the coffee when Julie calls him back into the dining room.
“Daddy, how are you going to get the money for my operation? What do you have to do?”
He sits down across the table from her. “Listen Jules, you don’t have to worry about it. I’m a pretty smart guy, and I got it all figured out. I might even retire, we can move down to Florida, maybe out to California.”
“OK Daddy, but not California, too many weirdoes out there. It is bad enough that I have to go there for the surgery, I don’t want to live there!”
Jimmy laughs. “Ok, let’s get you back upstairs, I have to run a few errands. Will you be alright, or should I call Mrs. Fenton?”
“I will be fine; just don’t be gone all day!”
Jimmy leaves the house and begins to drive back to Creamers. His cell phone rings, he looks at the caller ID, expecting it to be Julie, it is Ross. “Hello.” 
“Jimmy, sorry to bug you on a Sunday, I tried the house and Julie said you were out; everything ok with Julie?”
“Ross everything is fine. I am just running some errands. What can I do for you?” Jimmy thinks to himself that it is very strange to hear from Ross like this.
“Jimmy there has been some timeline changes, adjustments. I can’t really elaborate more than that, you understand why. Anyway, we need to review the final reports on the security team and make our decision by 8 a.m. tomorrow; that means we have to get together today. Jimmy I am sorry, I know the last thing you want to do is work on a Sunday, I promise to have you home for dinner.”
“Ross, I have to take care of something, and then I will be right in, probably in about an hour, maybe ninety minutes. I’ll call Julie and break the news, see you in a bit.”
He is just finishing talking to Julie as he pulls into the parking lot at Creamers. His plan was to take her back a pint of pistachio, so much for that. He waits until a young couple places and gets their order before he gets out of the car to approach the window.
“Hello there, what can I get you? Hey wait a minute, two scoops of pistachio, right?”
“Excuse me?”
“You were just here night before last, right? Two scoops of pistachio in a cup.”
“I am sorry; you must have me confused with someone else. I have not been here before today.” Jimmy doesn’t know why he just lied to the old man; it just seemed like the thing to do.
“Strange, I almost never forget a face. Well, what can I get for you?”
“A friend of mine told me you have the best homemade Italian ice, let me get one of those.”
“Sure thing, what flavor?”
“I don’t know, Mr. V didn’t specify a flavor.”
The old man sticks his head out the window and looks around. He pulls his head back in, “the specialty of the house is a rainbow, give me a minute to make it.” He disappears into the back of the store. When he returns he hands Jimmy an overstuffed manila envelope, and a rainbow ice in a cup.”
Jimmy gets back into the car, sets the cup on the console and opens up the envelope. Inside is a $250,000, a key and a piece of paper. The paper has five words typed on it; Bus Station, 5th and Liberty. Jimmy takes a closer look at the key and notices that it is for a locker, locker number 912. He pulls out of the parking lot, tosses the Italian ice out the window, and drives toward Syscorp. 
His cell phone rings, unknown caller. “Hello.”
“Jimmy, Jacob Smitz here, how are you? Listen I can’t talk long, just wanted to congratulate you and welcome you to the team. Once you fill the can, use the key. Just lock it back up, and drop the key in the trash can outside the station. The balance is already waiting for you inside the locker. Oh, and Jimmy, our timeline has been moved up, make the drop by tomorrow night, understand?”
“What, tomorrow night, are you nuts?”
“Gotta go Jimmy, tomorrow night it is, see ya.”
He drives up to the gate, waves to Ralph –does this guy ever get a day off—and pulls into his spot. He gets out of his car, and steps on the moving sidewalk. Ross is waiting for him on the other side of the x-ray belt. 
“Jimmy thanks so much for coming in. General Balchor is already here too.”
“What, Mike is here? Ross what is going on?”
“Downstairs Jimmy, I will explain it all downstairs.”



Chapter 9
Mike greets them as they step off the elevator. He is in casual civilian dress, if a suit and tie can be considered casual. “Ross, Jimmy, good to see you guys. Sorry about ruining your Sunday. Let’s get inside and get online with everyone and I can go over all the details.”
Ross spoke up, “Who else is joining us?”
Mike stops walking and turns to face them, “My Boss.”
“The Chairman is going to be on the conference call?”
“Not exactly. Come on, we gotta get started.”
Once the computer has verified everyone’s credentials, the headphones announce, “Please stand by for the President of the United States.”
“Good afternoon everyone. General, thank you for arranging this meeting, I have already read your report and the intelligence brief; go ahead and bring Dr. Gandle and Mr. Gaston up to speed.”
“Yes Sir, thank you. I will keep this brief, so that we can concentrate on rounding out the security team. One of our listening teams recently uncovered some disturbing intelligence and we have been able to verify it is authentic. The head of the mid-west crime syndicate, Joseph Victorino, has apparently been able to get to somebody inside Syscorp.” He paused to let what he just said sink in.
Ross’s lower jaw dropped, and might have fallen to the floor if it was not attached. Jimmy looks more scared than surprised.
“We have made the decision to fast-track the security team selection, and change protocol for handling of the specimen samples. Project RE-AN is going to be renamed; moving forward the project will be known as Project Zulu. The classification of the project is being increased along with the security. It has also been decided to make some changes to the leadership of Project Zulu; I will be assuming the project lead immediately.”
Jimmy reacted, “Now hold on just a minute Mike!”
“Mr. Gaston, during this briefing all protocol will be followed, please save all questions until after the briefing has finished; and please address me as General.”
The President interjected, “General, I really do not have all day. Mr. Gaston, Dr. Gandle, I want to make this very clear. General Balchor is now running the project. If you are not on board with this decision, you can be debriefed and removed from the team altogether. I will not allow this potential technology to go unchecked on my watch. General, I want the security team in place by 2100 hours. Once the team is in place, proceed with the relocation of the specimen to the new destination. Leave only enough to go forward with the laboratory trials. As I understand it, most of the left hand, the fingers and thumb were completely utilized during the previous phases?”
“That is correct Mr. President”, answered Mike.
“Now if you will excuse me, I would like to have Sunday dinner with my wife and son.”
Mike motions for Ross and Jimmy to remain seated after the President has signed off the call. “Alright guys, I really do not like this any more than you do, but you heard the man. As of now I am taking full control of the newly named project, Project Zulu. You are both about to be briefed with new background on the project, which by the way will increase both of your clearance levels. You will know everything there is to know, except where Specimen Z, which is the new unclassified name for the test subject, is being relocated to. Just listen to the brief and we can talk afterwards.” Mike initiates the digital brief from the touch screen in front of him and listens along with Ross and Jimmy, as the synthesized voice begins.



Chapter 10
“Audio briefing for Project Zulu, classification code Top Secret, SCI-SAP (Sierra, Charlie, India
dash Sierra, Alpha, Papa). Project Zulu is a cooperative initiative between The Department of Defense and The Department of Homeland Security under the direct supervision of the Commander in Chief and Joint Chiefs of Staff. The primary mission of Project Zulu is to develop an inoculation that will provide for reanimation of deceased military combatants.” 
“Background scope: Specimen Z was discovered and captured in late August, 1960 during the Benin Revolution. Benin, formerly known as Dahomey, is located on the African west coast; and is one of the origins of the 18th century slave trade, modern day Haitians trace their ancestry to Benin. Also, the origins of the Haitian religion, Voodoo, can be traced to the Ancient practice of African Vodun.
It is believed that Specimen Z is a byproduct of a Vodun ceremony. Scrolls that were discovered with Specimen Z, which have been translated by Voodoo experts, detail its origin. According to the scrolls; a supremely powerful medicine man held a zombification ceremony of a brave war chieftain, who was being possessed by a great African deity, Nzambi. The hopes were that an unstoppable, undead warrior would be created, to defend the tribe from the white devils with chains. Because the warrior was under possession of Nzambi, he was not reduced to being a normal juju zombie –a mindless automaton, incapable of remembering his past human life–he was able to think and act in a rational manner. He also assumed the immortal properties of Nzambi, making it impossible to kill him. So with the great power and strength of the undead, and the immortal protection of Nzambi, he went out to face the white devils. Many great battles ensued, sparking the Voodoo folklore and legend of zombies, the French slave traders had no explanation for the undying warrior, which they named Rougarou-Zombi.
After all of the battles had been fought, and once the white devils were expelled, the Bokur attempted to reverse the spell, freeing the great chieftain. However, the warrior did not want the possessing spirit to be banished. In a great struggle, the Bokur was killed, and the warrior subdued by the tribe. He was chained inside a great cave, and the opening was sealed by many tons of rock.
It was inside that cave that American Operatives (CIA), aiding Benin freedom fighters, discovered Specimen Z. The newly formed Benin government was all too happy to allow the American Operatives to assume custody of the creature discovered in the cave. Specimen Z was transported back to America. Testing began immediately, Specimen Z was difficult to control, many handlers and researchers were killed. In 1965, the true potential of Specimen Z was discovered after one handler was accidentally bitten. Within hours, the handler became a mindless shell of himself, with supernatural strength. He killed and infected twelve other researchers before he was subdued. 
The possibilities were endless; military minds began to churn at the thought of the invincible armies that could be created with the help of Specimen Z. After many mishaps and one near fatal outbreak in 1968, that was covered up by blaming a radioactive space probe explosion, Specimen Z was placed in deep seclusion and all testing ceased. Then in 1989, a fledgling technology (Cryogenics) enabled Specimen Z to be controlled. Project Zulu phase one (formerly Project RE-AN) was established September 12, 1992.”
The briefing continued going over past directors, milestone discoveries etc., all stuff Jimmy and Ross knew already. Once the audio stopped, Jimmy removed his headphones and walked right up to the General.
“Zombies Mike? Zombies! Are you kidding me? This is science, not science fiction.”
“Calm down Jimmy, I know it’s hard to believe. When I found out yesterday I didn’t want to believe it either. I have seen film footage and some old black and white Polaroid prints. Trust me, it is true.”
“Mike I will not calm down. What the hell are we talking about here? Reanimating dead soldiers, turning them into zombies? I thought we were trying to isolate the vector strain of the DNA sequence…I thought we were trying to cure cancer, synthesize organs…I thought my research was going to be able to help people like Julie; people with real medical concerns.”
“The scope of the project has changed.”
“Changed? That’s the best you can come up with? The scope of the project has changed? What the hell is going on Mike?”
Ross is still in his seat with a look of total amazement on his face. “I remember when it happened, back in 1968, well bits and pieces anyway. It happened here in the area, close to here anyway, somewhere up around Evans City, right? I remember watching the news reports on television, it all started at some farmhouse next to a cemetery. The next day it was downplayed, the media did a special briefing calling it a hoax, like the Orson Welles radio program back in the 30’s about Martians.”
“That is right Ross, I didn’t think you were old enough…”
“I was just a kid, maybe six or seven. I only remember because it scared the hell outta me. Is this what we are dealing with?”
Mike walked to the front of the room. “Listen, I know this is a lot to digest. I want you to go home, get some rest. I have already finished picking the security team, you were just called in as a formality, and they are being briefed right now. Specimen Z is being relocated as we speak, and final testing begins Tuesday. Go on, get outta here, and come back Tuesday.”
And just like that, General Balchor was gone. Jimmy and Ross look at each other. Jimmy motioned for Ross to be quiet and to follow him. They went to Jimmy’s office. He was sure there were no listening bugs there.
“Ross, did you know anything about this?”
“No Jimmy, I swear I am just as surprised as you.”
“I still don’t know exactly what to make of this, but I can tell you that it has just gone to a new level. You can do what you want, but I am getting rid of my insurance policy, do you know what I mean?”
“Jimmy I am not so sure that is a good idea. How would we get past security?”
Jimmy tosses a couple of small square packages on his desk, and explains the plan to Ross. “Just make sure you get rid of it right, I am thinking cremation, then sealing the ashes in an airtight container, and then sinking the container in the swamp. You do whatever you want, but if you get caught, I will sell you down the river, just like I would expect you to do to me.”
“Jesus, Jimmy…you sure, maybe we should just tell General Balchor about the thumb, you know give it back to …”
“Are you nuts? We would be arrested and put away forever! What about your wife, what about my daughter? No, we get rid of it, end of discussion.”
“Jimmy, I am sorry, I know that you were hoping to correlate this research with a way to help Julie.”
“Well, it looks like that is no longer an option. Besides, Julie got her kidneys; the hospital called last week. I just need to finalize the arrangements and get her to Memorial Hospital in Los Angeles. Ross, it is time for us to cover our tracks. I will see you Tuesday.”



Chapter 11
The moonlight is shimmering off the standing water of willow bog. The sounds of bull frogs serenading the stars dominate the crisp cool air. Off in the distance, a piercing light leads the way for the thunderous boom and throttle of an iron horse. William Harley and Arthur Davidson would be proud of the 1973 Shovelhead, decked out in polished chrome and wearing America’s colors. The cursive white letters across the gas tank identify her as ‘Old Glory’; riding atop Old Glory, as always, is Breaker.
Breaker –Christian name Francis John O’leary–is a stereotypical biker, by appearances only. He is called Breaker by different people, for different reasons, women because he breaks their hearts, men because he breaks their jaws and cops, because he breaks their laws. He has grown comfortable in the nickname, and encourages the use of it. When Breaker encourages something, it was a pretty good idea to go along. He stands six foot five inches tall and tips the scales at 285 pounds; not an ounce of fat, all chiseled hard muscle. He wears his hair tied back in a pony- tail and his mustache and goatee would make any walrus proud.
Before he was Breaker, he was Petty Officer O’leary, A Naval Special Warfare Operator (SEAL). He enlisted in the Navy right out of high school. During the initial eight weeks of basic, he took the ‘SEAL Challenge’. The ‘SEAL Challenge’ allows less than 40 minutes to swim 500 yards, do 100 push-ups, 100 sit-ups, 25 pull-ups and run one and a half miles, Breaker finished in under 30 minutes. He was on his way to being a warrior. Fifty-nine weeks of torturous training later, he earned his Trident and the title S.O., Special Operator.
Breaker gave the Navy eight more years of his life. He became very disillusioned with the civilian leadership, pulling the strings of the military, after what he considered a ‘lack of positive response’ to the terror attacks on September 11, 2001. Officially, according to his declassified service record he completed his term of service and was honorably discharged. Unofficially, he and three other members of his team were ‘relieved’ from duty with full pensions, after they launched an unauthorized, covert operation in the foothills of Afghanistan, looking to even the score. The unconfirmed body count of their excursion was forty five.
Now, at the age of 42, he is happy to live off his military pension and hold court every night with his trusted friends and followers.
Old Glory is tearing down State Route 166, heading for a familiar destination. The glow of the neon sign identified Valhalla from 700 yards in both directions. Breaker steers into the gravel parking lot, Old Glory’s motor grumbles like a giant gargling glass; he kills the gas and props her up on the kickstands. He takes his riding jacket off and lays it across Old Glory’s seat, he has no doubt it will still be there later, no matter how long he stays inside. 
As he prepares to go through the front door, he stops, smiles and stretches out his arms in front of himself lacing his fingers and cracking each knuckle. Tattooed on his left inside forearm is an eagle gripping an anchor, trident and musket; on his right, in bold letters, the phrase ‘God of Thunder’. He knows that no matter what else is happening inside Valhalla, the minute he walks in, the chorus from the KISS classic (God of Thunder) will grace the sound system. He is smiling because he thinks that it is cool to have his own entrance music. He pushes through the door, seconds later he is bathed in a pounding base line, and the entire bar begins singing along with Gene. “God of thunder (Dadu-Da) and rock and rolllll (Da-da-da-da-Dun-da-da-da) the spell you’re under (Dadu-Da)…”



Chapter 12
Jimmy is a little nervous; he is worried about what might happen if he is caught. Treason is a scary word; facing a firing squad is even scarier. In theory the plan is ingenious; he is astonished that Mr. V (whoever he is) has come up with it. He just hopes that he doesn’t get a case of frostbite. He is also concerned that Ross might not be able to stick to the plan. He hopes that Ross doesn’t screw up, because if he does, he will go down by himself. Jimmy looks at his reflection in the mirror, leans forward and splashes some water on his face. While he is drying his hands he calls over his shoulder. “Ross, make sure you flush three times, just to be sure the wrappers go down. Remember, I need 20 minutes to clear the building. Ross?”
From behind a closed stall door Ross answers. “I know, I got it, I am still a just a little freaked out, but I got it.”
Jimmy exits the restroom, and heads right towards the exit “Have a good night Jeff, see you later.” Jeff just nods back and begins to wave the metal detector. 
“Alright Mr. Gaston, you know the drill, please walk slowly through the body scan.”
Jimmy holds his breath and starts walking through. The technician in the control room examines the image on the screen in front of him, (it resembles a colored negative of a picture), bones dark blue, muscles and tendons dark red, flesh bright reddish-orange. The image of Jimmy appears perfectly normal, same as always. The technician pushes the button, opening the other side of the chamber, allowing Jimmy to continue. 
Had the DOD approved Jimmy’s request 18 months ago for the modified facial recognition software, then the computer would have compared today’s scan against all of the previous scans taken of Jimmy. Had that happened, then the computer would have flagged the scan, because today Jimmy’s penis was approximately one half inch longer than it ever had been before, and it had a partial fingerprint. Had the DOD approved the request, thirty minutes later the computer would have flagged Ross’s scan for the same reason. But the DOD did not approve the request. Jimmy was glad but he wondered how Mr. V knew that the DOD had not approved the request.
Jimmy pulls the car over two miles down the road, unzips his pants, and removes the knotted sheep skin condom, with the severed thumb inside the tip. He places it inside Mr. V’s special canister and drives on.
Ross barely makes it half a mile. He is freaking out, in a hurry to get the condom and severed thumb away from his manhood. He tears the condom, dropping the severed thumb piece on the passenger seat. Without thinking, he grabs the thumb, which is still cryogenically frozen, and the liquid nitrogen that is beginning to sweat out of the tissue immediately burns his hand. Again, without thinking he shakes his hand, sending the thumb out his car window onto the berm of the road. A large bull frog just happens to be sitting between the berm and the soft sandy shoulder of the road. The bull frog catches the movement of the bouncing thumb, flicks out its tongue and quickly swallows down the piece of thumb. The frog hops off into the marsh. Before the frog lands, its stomach bursts open, from the frozen thumb piece, killing it immediately. The thumb is propelled away from the frog, deeper into the marsh.
Ross regains his senses and slams on the brakes. The car skids to a stop; Ross gets out of the car and makes a half-ass attempt to find the thumb, but his hand is throbbing from the nitrogen burn and he is still concerned about his lower extremities being contaminated. He moves the dead frog with his shoe, just to make sure the thumb isn’t underneath it, decides that wherever it is, it is no longer his problem. He gets back behind the wheel of the car and starts to drive away; he is trying to buckle his seat belt, with no luck because of his hand. As soon the speed of the car reaches 50 MPH, a large bird slams into the windshield of the car, and causes Ross to veer the car across the center line, off the road and right into the five foot wide trunk of a sycamore tree. The next thing to hit the tree trunk is Ross’s forehead, he dies on impact. 
Jimmy is just placing his half of the thumb in the locker when he gets the call from Mike about Ross’s accident. “Jimmy, one other thing, it appears as if Ross has some sort of chemical burn on his hand. The CSI team also found a broken condom on the passenger seat. Jimmy, I hate to say this under these circumstances, but it looks like Ross might have been up to something.”
Jimmy didn’t know what to say.
“Anyway, I have decided to delay testing for a week. Media is all over the crash site, and I have to do some damage control. Go ahead and take some time, I will see you next Monday…the new consultant should be here by then.”
“New consultant, what do you mean? Who, Mike what is going on?”
“Gotta go Jimmy, see you next week.”
Jimmy drives with the radio off. He calls Jules and tells her about Ross, and that he might stop by his house to check on his family. What he really needed was some time to get his story straight, and to sort some stuff out. He had to find someplace to stash the bag on the backseat…the bag with $500,000 cash inside it. He wonders what has happened to the other piece of the thumb. Did Mike find the thumb, and just not tell Jimmy? He decides what he needs is a drink.



Chapter 13
It has been three days, since the crash that claimed Dr. Ross Gandle’s life. The FBI, in conjunction with the DOD has taken approximately twelve dump truck loads of swamp, (including the entire sycamore tree) that was the accident scene, to a secure location for further analysis. There have been thousands of photos, hours of video and hundreds of scans by numerous types of instruments. Absolutely nothing has been discovered.
The local media is up in arms over not being allowed access to the accident site. There has been much speculation about what exactly goes on inside the Syscorp complex. The official press release when the building was constructed was that it was a research and design facility specializing in military body armor. Very few people bought that explanation.
General Balchor has set up a briefing area, approximately 1500 feet down the road from the accident site. He is wearily answering questions, his patience growing very thin; because some members of the media are not buying the cover story about two drunks being the victims of the car crash.
“As I have already stated, and hope to not have to clarify again, John.” (John Macgregor is an investigative reporter from Channel Three Pittsburgh). “The victims, yes that is plural as in two, were traveling at a high rate of speed when they struck the tree. Although we are not prepared to release the identity of the victims, I can confirm that they are not local residents; and appear to have been passing through. A trace of Gruidae DNA, which I am told is technical for Sand Hill Crane, was detected on the windshield. Both occupants of the vehicle, we have no idea who was driving because both were ejected, have been confirmed to be legally impaired. From what we have pieced together, this is a simple case of drunk driving and bad timing. We believe the victims stopped at a local bar, had a few too many, and then drove off.”
A reporter interrupts. “Why exactly is the military involved in what is obviously, according to you, a simple case of drunk driving? Where are the local police?”
“Due to the proximity of the accident to a government facility and because of the status of the protected land…”
Another reporter cuts Mike off. “General, how did the government get permission to build a complex like that in the middle of a protected wet land?”
Now the questions are coming in rapid succession, leaving Mike no time to respond.
“Why is a four star General briefing us?”
“What really goes on inside those buildings?”
“Were the occupants of the car government employees, military?”
Mike is just about at the end of his rope. “As I already stated, the occupants of the car were not local residents.”
“That doesn’t mean they were not government employees. Are you trying to cover something up General?”
“General, why is the razor wire at the top of the fences pointed in the wrong direction?”
Now Mike is just flat out pissed off. “Now hold on just a minute. This is about the accident, not the Syscorp facility.”
“General, why don’t you stop ducking the questions, what about the razor wire?”
Mike recognizes Macgregor’s voice. “What are you talking about John? All facilities like Syscorp have a fenced perimeter.”
“Oh no, you don’t get off that easy, general! I know a thing or two about secure facilities, that razor wire is going the wrong way. It is keeping someone in, not someone out. I have covered three executions, live from state penitentiaries; the razor wire at Syscorp is just like the razor wire at prisons.”
“Alright, that is all I have time for, no more questions. The soldiers will escort you all from the site.” Mike walks away shaking his head. Leave it to the government to screw up something as obvious as the direction of the razor wire.
About 800 feet down the road from the accident scene, between the berm and shoulder of the road there is a decomposing frog carcass, teaming with maggots. One of the maggots seems to be larger, and more aggressive than the rest. 
By the time the sun starts to set, all of the maggots, except the large one, are dead. Before the sun completely sets, the large maggot has started to resemble a fly. By the time the moon is climbing across the sky, the lone maggot has completely transformed into a very large fly, almost as big as a humming bird. The fly appears to have attitude (if that is even possible). It is buzzing down the middle of the road, daring anyone, or anything to get in its way.



Chapter 14
Monday morning has arrived much too soon. Jimmy has taken advantage of the furlough, and has made the arrangements with the transplant team, and Julie –against her will–has been flown across the country and checked into Memorial Hospital in Los Angeles. Jimmy knew there was a chance he would not be allowed to leave Syscorp, so he wanted to make sure that Jules was taken care of.
Jimmy is exiting the final checkpoint, and notices that Jeff now has an assistant, who is conducting a very invasive full body pat down on everyone, heightened security. After being patted down, and his groin thoroughly groped, Jimmy goes to his office.
The phone is already ringing when he enters, so he hurries to answer. He listens as Mike asks, no tells, him to get down to the conference room immediately.
On exiting the elevator, Jimmy meets up with two camouflage laden men, both carrying M4 carbines with the M26 shotgun modification. No doubt that these two were serious.
“Sir, please stand back against the bulkhead, and display your identification while my partner verifies your thumbprint and retina scan.”
Jimmy moves back to the wall, and allows himself to be scanned. Damn lucky that I got the package out before all of the added security measures.
“Thank you Mr. Gaston, the General is expecting you in the conference room.”
As Jimmy walks away, one of the men is speaking into a transmitter, probably announcing his arrival.
Mike meets him at the door. “Jimmy, I am glad to see you.  Sorry about all the beefed up security, but with the recent developments it is a necessary evil. Jimmy, I am truly sorry about Ross, I know that the two of you have been working together for a while. We need to talk about what happened, come on in.”
Jimmy lets Mike lead him into the conference room, but stops a few steps in. Sitting in one of the seats is a middle aged African American woman, whom Jimmy has never seen before. Mike makes the introductions. "Jimmy, this is the newest member of the project team, for now you can just think of her as an advisor. Dr. Okayo Alphonsine Solaine.”
The woman rises to her feet and approaches Jimmy. “Nice to meet you, please call me OhAy, all of my friends do. Doctor is so formal, and only my grandmother calls me Okayo.” She has a slight accent, that Jimmy can’t quite place, maybe Jamaican he thinks. “I can see the puzzled look on your face Jimmy, I am Haitian.” Jimmy shakes her outstretched hand.
“Nice to meet you OhAy, if you do not mind me asking, what exactly are you going to be advising the team on?”
Mike answers, “Jimmy, OhAy has a doctorate in archeology, specializing in ancient civilizations. She is also a High Voodoo Priestess; she is here to shed some light on Specimen Z.”
“I am an expert on zombies”, she interrupts while shaking Jimmy’s hand.
Jimmy pulls his hand back, “Mike, are you kidding me with this shit, Voodoo, zombies?”
Mike begins to reply, but OhAy waves him off. “Jimmy I am a Mambo Asogwe, and I am here to channel the Loa and hopefully help you with your project. I can appreciate your misunderstanding about my culture, but please make no mistake; Voodoo is as much a religion as Christianity or Judaism, the practice of Voodoo dates back to the 17th century. I represent the white, or good, side of Voodoo. My ancestors have been communicating with, and channeling the Loa for ages. From what I have read, and been briefed about, your Specimen Z is a zombie that was created by a very powerful Bokur. A Bokur is a high priest that concentrates on the dark arts, evil Voodoo if you will. And if the scrolls found with the zombie are accurate, then you have a very special zombie; one possessed by a Loa, an ancient African Deity”
Jimmy tries to digest what he has just heard, unsuccessfully. “I am sorry OhAy; this is just a lot to deal with right now. My daughter is 1500 miles across the country, going through double kidney transplant surgery, without me. One of my closest friends was just killed in a car crash, and now I find out that I have been studying a zombie! My buffer has hit the overflow point, and I really do not think I can process anymore information right now.”
“I can certainly appreciate where your head is Jimmy. Let’s go take a look at Specimen Z. I have not seen an African zombie since I was a little girl.”
“Specimen Z is not here anymore, Mike had it transferred.”
Mike joined the conversation. “Actually Jimmy, we never intended to transfer Specimen Z, we just wanted to see if that information leaked.”
“And did it?”
Mike just shrugs his shoulders. “Only time will tell. Come on let’s go, after you OhAy.”
The three of them proceed to the examination room holding Specimen Z; followed closely by two armed security team members.



Chapter 15
Approaching from the opposite direction, Breaker has Old Glory pushing along the pavement at close to one hundred miles per hour. Breaker definitely has an attitude, and is equally daring anyone or anything to get in his way. It has been three days since he has been able to hold court at Valhalla. The local news reported some sort of drunken driving accident, which Breaker knew was bullshit, had the road closed off. 
Old Glory is rumbling on, Breaker’s hair flowing behind him like a cape. In an instance, Old Glory swerves underneath Breaker, as he takes his right hand off the handle bars, and brings it toward his face. He regains control of Old Glory just before laying her down. He is coughing and gagging. 
The fly was dead the minute it hit the soft pallet of Breaker’s mouth. By the time Breaker reacted with his first cough, the fly was already being dissolved in his stomach by hydrochloric acid. 
After one final cough, Breaker regains his composure. Little does he know that his white blood cell count has increased by 10,000; and those white blood cells are losing a battle against some strange mutant cells that are quickly multiplying, and speeding toward Breaker’s brain.
Within minutes, he is walking into Valhalla, listening to his entrance music. God of thunder (Dadu-Da) and rock and rolllll (Da-da-da-da-Dun-da) the spell you’re under (Dadu-Da). Breaker pumps his fist over his head in appreciation. He makes a bee line toward the bar and grabs the bottle of San Miguel waiting for him. He downs the whole bottle in a single gulp; but he can still feel that damn fly, or moth or whatever the hell had flown into his mouth. He pounds the empty bottle on the bar, and is downing a second bottle now. He lets out a loud belch, then a deep exhale.
“Get any on you?”
“Screw you Butchy! Give me another.” Breaker turns around and surveys his domain. “Hey Butch, you got the heat turned on or something? I am sweating my ass off.”
“Got the air set on 70, you sick or something Breaker?”
“It feels like it is a hundred degrees in here.”
“That’s because you have too many clothes on”, says Mia Rae the cute little brunette that has joined the conversation. “Come on with me and I’ll cool you down.”
Breaker glances in her direction. “Hey Mia, you are looking good girl.”
Mia tosses her head to the side, sending her hair flowing in a rippled wave. Her hand makes a slow climb up Breaker’s muscled thigh, stopping just as her fingertips reach his crotch. She makes eye contact with the blonde behind the bar with Butch.
The blonde shakes her head and lets out a sigh. “I am going out back to have a smoke Butch; I will be back in twenty.”
“OK Amy, burn one for me too.” 
Amy rolls her eyes at Breaker, and storms away from the bar. Mia is now straddling Breaker, grinding her hips to the beat of the music. 
“Hey man, what is the deal with you and Amy?”
“No deal Butch, I just don’t like being anchored in port, know what I mean?”
“Does Amy know that?”
“Butch, how about we don’t do this? No disrespect man, but your sister is a big girl, and you and I have been friends too long. Do us both a favor, and mind your own damn business.”
Butch throws his hands up, indicating his surrender. “You are right; I will stay out of it.”
“Thanks Butch.” Breaker turns his attention back to Mia. “Now, what exactly did you have in mind young lady?”
Mia whispers something in Breakers ear, he smiles, and then Mia smiles as she takes his hand and leads him to the back room. After fifteen minutes in the back room whatever has infected Breaker’s body, is now swimming around inside of Mia’s. Ten minutes later, she is the first to leave the back room, reapplying her lipstick and adjusting her top. She continues on her flirtatious rounds, kissing hello and stealing sips of beer from everyone she meets. Breaker is barely able to button his pants up and stagger back to the bar. 
“You want another Breaker? Hey, Breaker, you alright man?”
Before Butch can reach out and grab him, Breaker falls forward, smacks his head off the bar, and thumps to the floor. Blood is flowing from a gash in his forehead, as a crowd quickly gathers; Butch feels for a pulse and looks around at the group; he shakes his head ‘no’. As he is getting back to his feet, trying to avoid the spreading puddle of blood, he hears a scream from across the room. The crowd’s attention shifts toward the scream. 
“Something is wrong with Mia, she just passed out, and I don’t think she is breathing. As Butch is approaching Mia, a man, Erik Zesttrim, has already started CPR. He is trying to force air into her lungs. Butch kneels down and puts his forefinger against her neck. “Erik, she is gone you are just wasting your time.”
Erik stops and looks at Butch, “I gotta try man, go call an ambulance.”
Butch shakes his head disapprovingly, “Closest hospital is 150 miles and they sure aren’t sending a life flight copter for that skank. You go ahead and knock yourself out; I’m going to wash this blood of my hands. Butch turns to head back to Breaker’s body and then stops in his tracks. “Alright, who moved him? Cut off that music, now! Who the hell moved his damn body?” 
The music stops and the bar is silent. Breaker’s body is gone, there are bloody footprints leading away from where he had collapsed but no drag marks. Butch is about to holler again but Erik beat him to it.
“Hey look, she is coming around; I told you she wasn’t gone.”
All eyes turn back to Mia, her arms and legs twitching ever so slightly, as Erik still kneels next to her. Suddenly Mia’s eyelids open, a cloudy grey mist covers the entire eye; the pupils are almost nonexistent. Erik takes his hand from beneath her head and begins to move his arm away, and then Mia notices the movement. She turns her head toward him, and reaches out for his arm. She lets out a low throaty hiss, and then bites him, taking a chunk out of his arm. Erik pulls away, blood pumping out of his arm as Mia scrambles to her feet. Butch pulls his .38 from his waistband and empties all five shots into Mia’s chest. He is dumbfounded when she keeps coming toward him.
By now the bar is in a panic. Nobody has noticed the dozen or so other people that have collapsed. A few people are trying to help wrap a tourniquet around Erik’s arm as he slides into shock; but most are running to the door. Standing in their way, in front of the locked doors… Breaker. His eyes are also clouded over, but his pupils are fiery red. 



Chapter 16
The examination room is bathed in bright light, which is magnified by the white walls and floor. A single stainless steel table sits in the middle of the room, with a corpse strapped atop. As the three of them enter the room, Jimmy stops and gasped. “My god, is that Z? Why isn’t it inside the cryogenic capsule? Mike, you do realize that it will deteriorate if it is allowed to thaw?”
Before Mike can answer, the restrained corpse turns its head toward Jimmy’s voice. Jimmy feels his legs buckle and then finds himself being supported by Mike.
“We are pretty sure that deterioration is not going to be an issue Jimmy; and the official name of the subject is Specimen Z.”
“Hey, do you know what Mike, I will call that thing whatever I want. We have all known it as Z since the project started.”
Mike sighs, “Alright Jimmy, Z it is.”
OhAy steps around the two men and approaches Z.
“You are going to make sure you stay clear of its mouth”, Mike said.
OhAy turns and shoots him a glance. “This is not my first time, General, and his hands, I mean hand, is just as dangerous as his mouth.” She walks past the table to the glove dispenser hanging on the wall.
“You mean its hand, right Doctor?” Jimmy asks.
“No, I mean his hand. What you have strapped to the table is a male zombie.”
She snaps on a pair of gloves and she focuses her attention on Z. Carefully she examines his eyes, then his hand and then his feet. Jimmy watches in amazement as Z struggles and squirms against his bonds.
OhAy pulls off her gloves and rejoins the men in the corner of the room. “Well, gentlemen, what you have here is indeed a zombie, however I see no signs of any type of Loa possession. Where are the missing digits from the hand? It is very possible that the essence of the Loa, if he did indeed once possess this creature, is still contained within one of the amputated pieces. Whoever translated the scrolls for you was mistaken about the Loa being Nzambi; that deity is far too powerful to be summoned, and even if he was, no spell would keep him contained against his will. I believe the Loa referenced in the scrolls is Azaka-Tonnerre, the thunder Loa. We should reanimate and check the digits.”
Jimmy clears his throat. “The fingers and thumb are gone, they were utilized during testing.”
Mike joins the conversation. “Completely utilized, as in destroyed, nothing left?”
“Yes Mike, completely utilized. Don’t act so surprised, the use of the fingers and thumb was fully documented in the daily reports.”
“Jimmy I have read those reports and the weekly briefs, I was aware of the fingers, but I do not recall having seen anything about the thumb.”
“Well then you better go back and re-read, because it is all there. Both myself and Ross.” Jimmy stops for a moment after saying the name, “I am sorry, I forgot he was gone for a minute. Anyway we both reviewed the testing schedules; all of the digits were utilized. I don’t have anything else to say on that matter.”
“Gentlemen, it does not matter. If the amputated parts have been destroyed, then there is only one way to ensure that the scrolls you found are not describing this zombie. An embodied spirit has to be released, it cannot be destroyed. There are only two ways, that I am aware of, to release it; removal of the spell, or rebirth. I will set up my talisman and perform a banishing spell. If this zombie is possessed, the Loa will be released.”
“Rebirth? What exactly do you mean? Mike, do you know what she is talking about? I mean I understand removing the spell, actually I don’t understand that or should I say I don’t believe it. What does she mean by rebirth?” 
Mike shakes his head no. “What do you mean Doctor?”
“What I mean is the spirit must be passed on to new life. Once reborn the spirit can move freely as it pleases.”
OhAy removes various bottles, gems and candles from her bag. She carefully places drops from the different bottles on the zombies head, wrists, ankles and stomach. She positions shiny black stones on the four corners of the examination table, and a black candle, carved with symbols, at the foot of the table and lights it. She pulls a colorful veil up over her head, and begins to chant, in Haitian, while waving a petrified chicken foot through the smoke of the candle. After five minutes, she collects the gems, and extinguishes the candle.
“It is obvious to me that Azaka is not embodied in this zombie, this zombie is nothing special; I would recommend immediate termination.”
“Are you crazy? Mike, she has to be joking! This is ground breaking research.”
“Relax Jimmy, no one is destroying it; I mean him, I mean no one is destroying the specimen. Dr., are you certain there is nothing special about Z?”
“Gentlemen, please do not insult me, my ancestors and I have been dealing with zombies far longer than your government has been keeping them secret. I know why each of you have your motives for wanting to keep this creature animated. General, you and your government wish to create an unstoppable soldier; and Jimmy you hope to utilize the zombie to synthesize human organs. You are both fools. Nothing good comes from these creatures. They are the result of dark magic and evil intentions. Nothing good can result from the use of the dark arts, nothing.”
Before either man can respond a member of the security detail, outfitted in full combat gear, enters the room and approaches the general. “General, I have an urgent message for you.”
“What is it?”
“Sir, I am afraid the message is classified”, the soldier responds gazing at Jimmy and OhAy suspiciously.
“I said what is it, sergeant, everyone in this room is cleared!”
“Yes Sir. There is a situation in the morgue Sir”, the soldier is now staring at Z.
“What kind of situation? Can you please just spit it out?”
“Sir we have a number of casualties, two men mortally wounded, and three more in critical condition. Also, two members of the medical staff are dead, Sir.”
“What the hell happened?”
“Sir they were attacked, by one of those”, the soldier responds pointing at Z.



Chapter 17
Two men wearing dark suits, one carrying a black duffle bag that makes him resemble an old time doctor, come out of the train station and approach the idling limousine at the curb. The darkened rear window of the limousine descends, and the two men have a brief conversation with the occupant of the back seat. The man with the bag hands it through the window and then steps away from the car as the window goes back up. The limo pulls away from the curb and the two men walk across the street to a waiting taxi cab. 
They both crowd into the back seat of the cab, and the second man is just pulling the door closed as the driver is turning around in his seat to face them. As the door thumps closed, the driver pumps three shots, from a silenced pistol, into each man. Satisfied that they are both dead, the driver puts the cab into gear and pulls away from the curb. The cab is 200 feet down the road when it erupts into a massive explosion, sending twisted metal and pieces of the driver and his two deceased passengers out in a 50 foot radius.
Joseph Victorino does not take chances, and he never leaves loose ends. Now there was only one other person that could tie him back to Syscorp, except his mole. He did not like the fact that somebody, Jimmy Gaston, other than himself knew about what was inside the black bag. He did not like it, but he is pretty sure that Julie Gaston will keep Jimmy silent.
He rides in silence, staring down at the bag, pondering on the notion that he is about to become even wealthier than he already is. The initial interest from bidders was very promising. Chen Cloy Chin, representing the Chinese Triad, has already offered him one billion American dollars if he skips the auction and sells directly to him. He declined the offer, but thanked him for setting the bar for the opening bid. 
He stretches across the seat, reaching for the handles of the bag, but before he can completely close his grip around the bag his entire body lurches forward violently. His head crashes through the privacy glass, separating the back seat from the driver, and his face is cut to ribbons. A second concussive force sends him further into the front seat, and before his eyes completely flood with blood, he sees the driver’s headless body sprawled out across the hood of the car. He mumbles out loud, “what the hell is going on?”
He forces his body back through the jagged glass, slicing his upper back and torso, and slumps back against the contorted seat. Repetitive thumping begins droning in his ears, WHUMP, WHUMP, WHUMP, followed by shattering glass. The side window comes raining in on him, and the head of a sledge hammer rebounds off the back of the seat. 
Daylight pours into the limo, followed by a heavily Asian accented voice. “Get the bag! The jiang shi is in the bag. If anyone inside is still alive, kill them.”
Mr. V crawls over and peers out the window and sees the severely wrecked armored car that has collided with his limo. A hand quickly pushes him away from the window, and then grabs the bag. Mr. V. notices a tattoo on the intruding hand. In the webbing between the thumb and forefinger, a circle around a triangle with an oriental symbol inside it; the marking of a member of the Triad. Before he can open his mouth to say anything, the tattooed hand returns holding a pistol. FUMPF, FUMPF, two shots silence any protests Mr. V had been planning to offer.



Chapter 18
“Breaker, what are you doing man? Get out of the way, we need to get out of here.”
Breaker, at least in body, delivers a backhand that sends the whiny man back into the bar. He lands next to the creature that used to be Mia, taking a bite out of Butch. The few humans remaining are all facing the same fate as Butch. Creatures, for lack of a better description, are staggering and shuffling around attacking and eating everyone that is still alive.  Breaker looks on, through fiery red eyes, watching the mayhem unfold. He begins to patrol the room, observing all the action up close. Once he is certain that everyone is dead, or dying, he unleashes a low bellowing growl. The carnage stops, the creatures all stop what they are doing and look in his direction. The room becomes eerily silent; Breaker turns his head and listens. 
He cocks and twists his head from side to side as he rotates around. He stops facing the restrooms; he hears the rapid muffled thump of a panicking heart accompanied by quick, shallow hyperventilating breathes. He simply thinks about the restrooms, and the group of creatures turn in unison and move in that direction. Breaker stands where he is, statuesque, until he hears the screams of horror, followed by the groans of the creatures, coming from the restrooms. He thinks the room silent, and the creatures quiet down. Again, he listens intently; convinced all the humans have been turned, he calls the creatures back into the main area of the bar. He looks out over the small group, his hoard of zombies, and smiles.
In an instance, he senses something. A voice calling, beckoning him, but he decides to ignore it, because he can. He ponders for a minute. There is a Mambo Asogwe trying to banish me back to my plane of existence.
The humans must believe that I am still bound by spell to that creature in the facility.



Chapter 19
Tendrils of smoke are slowly drifting from Amy’s nostrils when the gunshots ring out. She takes another deep drag off the cigarette, showing no concern or alarm at the sound of the gunshots, gunshots are a nightly occurrence. She lights a fresh one off of the smoldering snub and dispatches it to the ground. She puts one hand on her hip and she grinds the butt into the ground with the toe of her shoe. She doesn’t even raise an eyebrow at the screaming, screaming is also a nightly occurrence; however, the sudden and complete silence that follows sends a chill up her spine.
As she approaches the back door, her hand almost on the knob, she hesitates; seeing the old whiskey crates piled up along the wall stops her in her tracks. She stacks them so that they reach just below the window. She climbs onto them, steadies the wobble, and sneaks a peak in the window. The assault on her eyes nearly knocks her off the crates, and she can barely keep her balance as she stumbles away from the building, toward her car. She yanks up on the handle over and over, to no avail; the car door is locked. Her keys are in her purse which is tucked under the bar. Looking back at the bar, realizing that the screaming has started again, she turns and runs; through the parking lot, onto the road and as far as she can until her burning lungs stop her. 
Once her breathing has slowed she lights a cigarette, her last one, and continues away from Valhalla at a brisk pace.



Chapter 20
“What exactly do you mean? Who attacked the men?”
Once again, the soldier points at Z, “Sir, whatever that…thing is, there is another one in the morgue. It killed the coroner and his assistant; it almost killed five members of the security detail. They must have shot it twenty or thirty times, it just kept on attacking. The Doctor has them all in the infirmary, and wants permission to call for a Medevac flight.”
“OhAy, you stay here with the sergeant and keep Z secured; Jimmy you come with me to the morgue.”
“General, do not be a fool. This creature is secured and the sergeant is perfectly capable of babysitting. You are running off to deal with seven zombies, and you want the only expert to stay here? What you should do is have the sergeant shoot this zombie in the head, and then send the same order to the rest of your security team in the medical wing.”
Jimmy speaks up, “What do you mean seven zombies; he said that there was one?”
Mike and OhAy looked at each other, then Jimmy. Mike answers the question. “Jimmy, it is contagious; it is spread just like an infection, bodily fluid transfer, and open wound contact.”
The scene played out like a movie in Jimmy’s mind; he saw himself slipping the condom covered thumb onto his own condom covered penis. He could feel the cold sweat on the back of his neck, “How long does it take? What is the incubation period?”
OhAy answered this time. “If a person is killed while being infected, the transformation usually takes less than an hour and may be as quick as ten minutes. If a person is infected, but not killed, the transformation depends on the severity of the wound and the extent of the exposure; ten minutes or a couple days. Gentlemen, I suggest we get down to the medical wing and sort out what is going on.”
“Sergeant, lock down this room, nobody in or out. Call for a backup team, and give me your communicator.”
They start down the hallway, toward the elevator. Jimmy’s mind is still racing. Had he touched the severed thumb directly? “So, OhAy, is there any type of test or scan that detects…?
“No need, it wouldn’t make sense to develop a test. All exposure leads to infection.”
“How about an antivirus…you know, a cure?”
“I don’t think you are grasping it Jimmy, there is no cure for death, and there is no way to reverse the transformation. Think of a caterpillar to butterfly metamorphosis, once the change occurs there is no going back. First the infection, then death, then reanimation; once the corpse is reanimated, the only way to stop a zombie is to sever the brain from the spinal cord.”
Jimmy stops, and leans against the wall. OhAy turns, looks at Jimmy, and then stops too. “General, I think we need a minute.”
Mike stops and looks back at the both of them, “Come on this is no time to play twenty questions…”
“Hey, to hell with you Mike! I think I am entitled to ask a few questions; considering that I have been doing research on a contagious, infectious, damn zombie! Why wasn’t I told? I have the proper clearances; I certainly have the damn ‘need to know’! I could be infected…my god, I could have transported it home. Julie could be infected. I have to call the hospital and see if she is alright.”
Mike is now right in front of Jimmy, right in his face. “Don’t you give me this line of bullshit Jimmy; you knew that this project was dangerous. You read the briefing documents, and were well aware of the contagion possibilities. Look around, why else would this type of facility have been constructed? I will not listen to your holier than thou accusations. You knew damn well what you were getting yourself into! Nobody is calling anyone until we sort out what the hell is going on here, now let’s move.”
“Zombies, reanimated corpses! I would have never agreed…”
“That is why you were not told! We needed you, I needed you and I still do. Now if you are ready to get down off of your high horse, I would like to find out just how severe the situation is over in the medical wing.”
The trio continues down the hallway in silence, suddenly Mike raises his right hand to his right ear, activating the communicator. “This is General Balchor. What, how many? No, I am on the way now. Son of a bitch! Alright, lock it down standard protocol; no one out or in until I get there. Yes, I mean no one in or out, lock it down now. If he won’t leave, then lock him inside.” He turns to face Jimmy and OhAy. “Well it seems that our situation has become a bit more serious. The wounded have turned, and attacked the medical staff; four members of the security team have also been compromised. Apparently the doctor is refusing to leave the room, so I ordered the remaining security forces to lock down the medical wing; looks like we now have fourteen zombies, in addition to Z.”
“And no doctor or medical facility to treat the wounded…” Jimmy stops speaking, looks at OhAy and smiles, “Oh yea, I forgot no need to treat because there is no cure.”
OhAy smiles back, “As long as the armory stays open we can treat everyone that becomes infected.”
They arrive outside the medical wing and are greeted by another member of the security team. “General we have secured all entries and exits; we were not able to secure the weapons Sir.”
“What weapons?”
“Sir, the weapons from the wounded team members; we were unable to get to the men to pull them out…”
OhAy interrupts, “General, zombies are not capable of using firearms; there is nothing to worry about.”
“Fine, I want to see the camera footage from the first attack in the morgue; call down to control and have it cued up over there”, Mike said pointing to an office. “Let’s go see if we can figure out how this all started.” Once everyone is seated, Mike starts the playback.
Thor Sevena, the coroner, entered the room first followed by his assistant, Carina Hitshorn. They walked over to the body drawers, opened one up and hoisted the body bag over onto a table. Thor says something to Carina; they both laugh and walk out of the video frame, the body bag ripples. It is apparent that someone, or something, inside the body bag is moving. Thor and Carina are back in view of the camera now, but they do not notice the moving body bag. Without looking down, Thor grabs the zipper and begins to unzip the bag, before he reaches the middle of the zipper teeth, a hand thrusts out of the bag and grabs his arm. Carina has her back turned and does not see what is happening. Before Thor realizes what is happening, he is pulled closer to the bag and starts to shake violently. His body is blocking the view of the table, and the body bag, from the camera. He finally steps away from the table, obviously screaming, and Carina reacts by rushing over to him. Blood is pumping out of his arm, and he is slowly sinking toward the floor. Carina has not yet looked at the table; she is concentrating on Thor as he slowly slips into shock.
Sitting up on the table is a zombie. The zombie is struggling to free the rest of its body from the bag, and is succeeding. 
“Mike, what the hell is going on? That is Ross; I mean it was Ross. Mike what is going on?”
Mike pauses the playback, and begins speaking into his communicator. “I want a mobile scout team back out to the accident site now; load up heavy and take no chances, follow protocol three, no live captures. Secure the area, remove any and all media, and prepare for a secondary search team. I want the entire area searched again with a fine tooth comb, it has to be out there, and I want it found.” Mike looked at Jimmy, “Ross was a traitor! He lied about the thumb being utilized in testing; and was on his way to sell it. I don’t know exactly what happened, but he obviously never made it, because now he is a zombie. The thumb has to still be out at the accident site, and we need to find it. He lied to you and everyone else about utilizing the thumb. I have a team gearing up; we are going out too, so get ready to move out.”



Chapter 21
The silence in the bar is unnatural; Azaka stands stoic surveying his small army. Azaka likes his new host, this man named Breaker. He had only taken a small swim through the memory banks of Breaker, but it was enough to gain an understanding of everything he had been subjected to.
He has gained an immediate understanding of the English language, modern technology, everything that Breaker knew, Azaka now knows. He is very impressed with his new found knowledge; especially everything he now knows about modern warfare. He really likes the tattoo on the right forearm of Breaker, almost as if fate had brought them together; two gods of thunder joined as one. 
Azaka had been dormant far too long; he was furious at having been held against his will. Vengeance will be his; he will indeed make these humans pay.
He walks around the room, mentally scanning through the remaining human memory banks of his army, pulling in what knowledge he can before the memories are all lost. He sends out a telepathic command. You are now zombie warriors in the service of Azaka; I command that you recruit new members to join our ranks. Split into two equal groups, and walk away from each other on the highway. Turn every human you encounter into a brother or sister; kill and consume only enough to infect, leave all of your victim’s brains intact. Continue on this mission until I call you back.

He is able to communicate with his zombies telepathically, because he is directly linked to them. He can even project himself inside other zombies he is linked to. He knows that he must be careful while doing this. Projecting his mind leaves the host body vulnerable to death, which would trap him inside the body of the zombie he was projected to, or suspend him in a plane of non-existence, if he was not occupying either body at the time of the host body death.
Azaka knows that by this time tomorrow his army will have grown exponentially. Unguided, a zombie will naturally seek out and consume human flesh and brains; it is their nature, the driving force that keeps them going. 
A zombie hoard is usually a result of an uncontrolled outbreak, a single zombie that has been left animated, by its creator, even after its purpose has been fulfilled. Uncontrolled, a zombie will attack and consume any living creature, especially humans. The longer a zombie remains animated, the more futile and obtuse it becomes; every minute less and less of its human memories remain. Only the consumption of live human brains allows a zombie to think on the most rudimentary level, retaining basic skills like opening doors, avoiding obstacles, recognizing sounds and understanding what is making the sound.
Azaka has no intentions of allowing his hoard to consume any brains, he wants no free thinking zombies, no deviation from his purpose… revenge on the humans.
He had been corporeal far too long, centuries chained in that cave followed by decades in that research facility. Now he controls his own destiny; he is possessing Breaker on his own accord. No one has summoned him, and his previous bonds have been broken through the rebirth process. He has decided to remain within this human, Breaker, long enough to extract his revenge, and then he will return to his own plane of existence. 
He allows his thoughts to find one of his zombies and he projects himself inside. He takes in the images from the creatures eyes, seeing what it sees. He sees the soft glow of lights, on the horizon, from the unsuspecting housing plan. Soon the humans inhabiting those houses will be swept under foot, fighting for their lives; their very existence. Azaka knows that many will escape his approaching zombies, but he also knows that many will not. It will be the same at each populated area.
He refocuses his thoughts, releasing the zombie and taking another stroll through the mind of Breaker. He is very happy with his new host; he decides to spend the next couple of hours learning everything Breaker had once known, before it is lost forever.



Chapter 22
It is a few minutes before four; the moon is still riding high in the cloudless sky. Adam Tugto is just slipping out of his front door, still half asleep, on his way in for the early shift at work. He is fumbling with his keys, trying to lock the door, while balancing a coffee in his left hand and a piece of toast in his mouth. 
 He hears something that sounds like a badly trained marching band, before he sees it. He walks out into the street and gawks as the hoard approaches. He doesn’t know exactly what he is looking at, but he knows that this group of offbeat marching things is not human. He is scanning his brain, trying to remember if he had read anything about a movie being filmed in the area. He sits his coffee cup down on the roof of his car, and opens up the door. Before he can get into the care, one of the offbeat marchers grabs him.
“Hey, what the hell do you think you are doing, keep your hands off of me!” He shouts as he tries to push his attacker away. The first set of grabbing hands is joined by another, and then another, Adam feels fingernails digging into his forearm. He tries to pull himself away from his attackers, but they are relentless. Pain begins to radiate down his arm as his shoulder is pulled  out of it socket, his eyes begin to tear over and his vision starts to cloud, but not before he witnesses large chunks being bitten out of his forearm.
Dan Gillsir and Elmer Kinoz are gliding down the road, side by side, engaged in a whispered conversation, winding down from their routine morning ride. They are co-captains of an amateur cycling team that competes in charity rides.  
“Heads up Elm, something is going on up ahead”, Dan said as he engages his hand break and brings his bike to a stop. He hops off and begins to walk his bike toward the crowd. 
Elmer gets down off of his bike and joins him, “What the heck do you think is going on, especially this early?”
“Beats me buddy, I can’t really tell. I think someone is hurt; it looks like there is blood on the side of that car. I think that there may be some kind of accident?”
“There aren’t any flashing lights or Sirens, cops must not be here yet. Let’s go see what is going on.”
As the duo continues toward the crowd, Dan’s right leg quivers and gives out; he goes down hard, dropping his bike, startling Elmer and drawing the attention of one of the crowd.
“Dan, are you alright?” Elmer sits his bike down and kneels next to his friend.
“Damn calf cramp; all five of my toes are curled up and crumpled”, Dan answers as he is trying to massage his throbbing leg.
“You scared the hell outta me, I thought you were having a heart attack.”
Neither Dan nor Elmer notices the small group approaching them, until it is too late. They were easy targets, and did not put up much of a fight. And so the carnage continued as the sun continued to climb, and the hoard continued to advance. 
Ryan Almasung was engulfed as he delivered the early edition of the dispatch. He was supposed to graduate this summer, and had hopes on enlisting in the Air Force. 
Daphne Joelis and Greta Prosty were out trying to walk their bodies into a size ten or better. Daphne, the bride to be, and Greta her soon to be maid of honor were preoccupied by their mp3 players, and smart phones. They were carrying on a ‘text’ conversation with one another, even though they were only two feet apart. Oblivious to their own surroundings, they actually walked right into the approaching zombies. The good news is that they both lost ten pounds of flesh almost immediately.
The zombies continued through the town, turning everyone they came into contact with, giving no quarter to anybody; they attacked women, children, sick and old alike. 



Chapter 23
The advance scout team arrives on the scene of Ross’s accident and begins setting up a defensive perimeter. There was no media near the scene so the officer in charge, Captain Brice Hellatoni, dispatched two six man teams one mile in each direction; one to cover the forward flank and one to protect the rear flank should crowd control become necessary. He is unconcerned about the right and left, assuming nobody will be traveling through the swamp. Once both of the scout teams have reported back, he sends a radio message to General Balchor indicating that the crash site is secure and ready for the search team to move forward. 
Mike, Jimmy and OhAy arrive on site just ahead of the search team. Mike returns salutes as he dismounts the jeep. “Captain Hellatoni, go and get me a rifle, and please issue Mr. Gaston a rifle and a sidearm.” He looks toward OhAy, “Doctor, would you like a weapon?” OhAy shakes her head no. The Captain salutes and heads off toward the mobile armory. 
Jimmy pulls Mike aside from the group. “Mike, how do you know that Ross was trying to sell the thumb from Z? What makes you think it is still out here?”
“Listen Jimmy, you know that I can’t tell you anymore than I already have…”
“Bullshit Mike, my clearance is as high as yours! You tell me what is going on or I am getting in that jeep and I am leaving and the only way you are going to stop me is by shooting me!”
Mike runs his fingers across his closely cropped hair. “We have… I mean had an informant close to Joseph Victorino; we knew that he had his hooks into someone inside Syscorp but we didn’t know who. The informant was scheduled to come in and tell us who Victorino had inside Syscorp. We didn’t know anything about the thumb, until our informant told us that Victorino was ready to make a play for it. We were suspicious of Ross because we figured that it had to be someone with the ability to cover up the existence of the thumb. We assumed that he had exaggerated the total consumption of the thumb.” Mike stops and looks Jimmy directly in the eyes. “We were not sure about you Jimmy…whether or not you were involved with Ross, or maybe by yourself.”
Jimmy’s mind is racing. “Mike, you don’t think that I…”
“Jimmy, we have known each other a long time. I know how much Julie means to you; when I heard about the second kidney failing I have to admit that I was worried about you. I am still worried about where you got the money for the transplant she just had. I feel less concerned since you are standing here and Ross…well let’s just say Ross looks a lot guiltier than you.”
“What do you mean had and informant close to Victorino, what happened?”
Mike begins pacing in a small circle. “Our guy was killed, not just our guy, Victorino and a couple of his most trusted guys too. A messy job, downtown right in front of the bus depot, couple of car bombs and a lot of gunfire; couple of civilian casualties too. Our informant told us that Victorino was picking up some package, and that he had indicated that it was a big score. Someone went to a lot of trouble to take him out; conflicting witness statements have described the attackers as Asian. If we do not find the severed thumb here, we have to assume that Ross had already delivered it. Who knows, maybe his accident was foul play, you know Victorino welching on whatever he promised to pay. Jimmy, you have seen what contamination from this…this, hell I don’t even know what to call it anymore. I guess zombie will have to do. Anyway we have to completely rule out any possibility that the thumb is still out here.”
Before Jimmy can respond Captain Hellatoni approaches carrying the requested firearms. “As you requested Sir; with your permission I am going to join the team on the highway perimeter. They have reported a visual contact, someone approaching on foot.”
Mike and Jimmy take their weapons, and Mike dismisses the Captain. 
“Report back once you figure out what is going on down the road, probably just some drunk staggering away from that damn biker bar. Jimmy, let’s go see if the search team is making any progress.”
They approach OhAy, who is watching groups of people decked out in hazmat suits slodge through murky swamp water. Jimmy walks away, following the final path of Ross’s car. “Hey Mike, how fast do you think Ross’s car was going when he hit the tree? Anyone figure out why he wasn’t wearing a seat belt, and how come there are not any skid marks?”
“I do not know Jimmy, do you think it has any bearing on finding the missing thumb?”
“Maybe, why are we looking here; didn’t you have the entire accident scene scooped up and hauled away? We should look beyond the original scene; anything that was here is bound to be wherever you had everything shipped to. I am going to take a walk, you want to come?”
Mike shrugged, “I have to stay; now I am the ranking officer since Captain Hellatoni left. You want to take a couple guys with you?”
“Nope, I will be fine, I only plan on going a couple hundred feet, maybe I will ask the good doctor to keep me company and continue my zombie education.”
Jimmy and OhAy walk away, further down the road, OhAy breaks the silence. “I can tell by your tone that you still don’t believe in all of this.”
“I believe something is happening, but you’re right, I am not buying into zombies and Voodoo and possession by evil spirits. That carnival sideshow ceremony that you did, back at the building on Z, I mean what kind of crap was that?” Jimmy responds with a smirk on his face.
“Why is it so hard for you to accept? What religious beliefs do you follow?”
“Well Doctor, not that I understand what religion has to do with any of this, I am a Christian, Roman Catholic to be exact.”
“Religion has everything to do with this. Voodoo is a religion practiced by over 60 million people.”
“Listen OhAy, I do not doubt your personal religious beliefs; I just have a hard time buying into zombies, petrified chicken feet and corpses walking around.”
OhAy chuckles, and replies with a bit or sarcasm and a smirk of her own. “I know, it is hard to believe, that someone that is dead, oh I don’t know say for three days, could come back to life and walk around. Oh wait, isn’t that what your religious beliefs are based on. Didn’t Jesus rise from the dead? Didn’t he bring Lazarus back from the dead? Isn’t the biggest symbolism of Catholicism eating human flesh, and drinking human blood? It sounds an awful lot like you worship a zombie to me; you believe that the dead can rise and walk, based on faith alone. But you don’t believe it when you see it with your own eyes? You just watched your friend Ross’s corpse reanimate and kill two people.”
Jimmy stops walking and makes eye contact with OhAy. “I am sorry for criticizing your beliefs and doubting the validity of your religion. I understand the point you are making, but please don’t compare Jesus Christ to one of these creatures.”
The smile leaves her face, and the sarcasm is gone from her voice. “You are right, I apologize for my comments. I truly believe that all religions can trace their roots back to a common source, and that everyone believes in some greater force. Good and evil are around everyone, everywhere, these creatures are not necessarily evil. I think they are just empty. They did not choose to be what they are; they simply are what they are because of manipulation.”
Mike quickly approaches the two of them. “Is everything alright, it sounded like you two were arguing?”
They both shake their heads, Jimmy answers. “We were just discussing how similar religious beliefs are at their roots. We are gonna go check out the road down there now.”
“I decided that I want you to take a guy with you anyway; I do not want you out of radio contact.”
“That sounded a lot like an order?”
“It was. Sergeant Sonrox, accompany Mr. Gaston and Dr. Solaine, report back any findings. Hank Sonrox saluted, “Yes Sir, General.”
A second soldier approaches the General, “Sir, I have a call on the satellite phone from Major Chonk, he says it is urgent Sir.”
Major Chonk is the ranking officer left at the Syscorp location. Jeb Chonk is a career military man, and he understands protocol, an urgent call from him is just that, urgent. What was bothering Mike was the fact that it was coming over the satellite phone, not normal communication channels.
Mike lifts the phone to his ear, “Go ahead Major.” The line is dead. “Get me the Major back, either on the satellite, or radio, I do not care.” He trots to catch up to the group walking away “Sergeant, cancel that last order; sorry Jimmy, I am going to need you to stay put.”
Had Jimmy, OhAy and the sergeant walked ten more feet they would have discovered the rotting piece of thumb, teeming with maggots.



Chapter 24
Amy wishes that she had another cigarette; actually she wishes that she had a whole pack. It seems to her that she has been walking down this road just about forever. Not a single car has passed by and she has not passed a single building. She is about to give up walking and sit down right in the middle of the road when she sees the approaching headlights. At first she thinks her eyes are playing tricks on her but then she realizes that the two far off dimples of light are indeed headlights. She begins to move a little faster, at first just a slight increase to the briskness of her walking pace; then she begins to jog. Before she can get up to a full run, the sides of the road in front of her come to life. 
“Don’t move! Get down on your knees, cross your ankles and put your hands behind your head.”
Before she has a chance to argue, she is shoved to the ground and her arms are twisted and lashed behind her back. While being dragged back to her feet, a wire mesh bag is draped over her head. She hears someone talking.
“Area secure for your approach Sir, the subject has been subdued; her hands are contained and a bite bag has been place on her head. No Sir, the subject appears normal, I think she is alright. Yes Sir, the subject is female.”
Amy tries to remain calm; the fact that this guy is talking to someone on a walkie talkie means he is probable some sort of cop. She hears a vehicle arrive; it is left idling while the driver and the walkie-talkie guy speak again. The pair approaches, and her blindfold is removed.
“My name is Captain Hellatoni. I apologize for the restraints, but until you answer a few questions I am afraid that they are necessary. Can you tell me what you are doing walking down the middle of a deserted highway at this time of night?”
“Captain, I will tell you anything you want, I will do anything you want, just not here. Please, let’s get in your jeep and drive.”
“Are you running from somebody? Are you in some kind of trouble?”
“You would not believe me if I told you, can we please just get out of here, and can I have a cigarette?”
He lit a cigarette and handed it to her, “Try me.”
She pulled a long drag, held it, and then exhaled the smoke up toward the stars. “Ok, you asked for it. There is a bar back down the road a couple of miles, a biker bar, only instead of being full of bikers, it is full of …I don’t even know what to call them…but they aren’t human, at least not any more. They are like living corpses, you know, zombies.”
“Soldier, clip those ties from her wrists and put her in the jeep. You and the team disappear back into the swamp, and report any other activity. Do not engage again, stay in stealth mode.”
“Hey listen, I told you that you wouldn’t believe me. Where are you taking me?”
“Who said I didn’t believe you?” Captain Hellatoni said as he walked around to the driver side of the jeep; speaking into his communicator. “General we have a confirmed sighting. No Sir I do not have a count, I will be back with her in less than five minutes, I do not know her name.”
“My name is Amy, Amy Sunoon. Where are we going to be in five minutes?
He ignored her question. “General, her name is Amy Sunoon; I will see you in five, Sir.”



Chapter 25
Azaka is back from his journey through Breaker’s mind, and he is very satisfied with what he and Breaker now share as common knowledge. He stands motionless and reaches out with his mind to his two hoards again.
The first group is now more than a thousand times its original size. Four suburban communities have already been decimated, and a fifth is currently under attack. Azaka thinks about half of the hoard turning around and returning to the bar. Half of the undead soldiers in Azaka’s army turn and begin the journey back. He knows that it is dangerous to go back through the same areas again; he knows that he will no longer have the element of surprise and that his hoard will suffer some casualties. He also knows that he would gain two new members for every one he loses, which is an acceptable ratio. The other half of the hoard is ordered to continue forward.
The second group is still the original size, and has actually encountered no one. Azaka allows his mind to enter one of his creatures. He can smell something odd, he brings the smell all the way back and lets it mingle through his new database of knowledge that he has obtained from Breaker. Gun oil! He smells Gun oil, which means that there are human soldiers somewhere very near. He scans the area beyond the road, and notices a broken leaf hanging by the stem on a small weed growing on the side of the road. He knows that is where they left the road, knows that they are bunkered down thirty or forty feet away, off the road in the overgrowth of the swamp. He orders the hoard to stop advancing, and to retreat approximately a quarter of a mile. He will need to have the advantage of overwhelming manpower if he hopes to have a chance against professional soldiers. 
As he is projecting his mind back, he catches a glimpse of an image. He re-focuses his thoughts, and finds the mind of a new zombie. This zombie is looking up at a bank of lights mounted to the ceiling. Azaka takes over the zombies mind, and immediately experiences a déjà vu. This is the creature he was trapped inside all those long years. He manipulates the creature’s right hand, and loosens the straps keeping it to the table. Once free, Azaka implants a single thought inside the creatures head. Roam the building, freeing as many of your kind as you can, and kill every human you encounter.
He releases the creature and walks outside the bar. He approaches Old Glory and climbs on. Before pulling out onto the blacktop he studies a car in the lot. He somehow knows that the car belongs to Amy, and he also knows that Amy is not a member of his hoard, yet. He reaches into the saddlebag strapped to Old Glory and pulls out the HK45CT pistol, and slips it into his waistband.



Chapter 26
Major Jeb Chonk is sprinting down the hallway toward the elevator. Two minutes earlier he had been fighting a losing battle against sleep; eyes narrowing to mere slits while his head was slowly drifting down toward his chest, and then snapping back in a whiplashing motion. He would be damned if he would allow himself to be caught sleeping by one of the men. He slapped himself across the face a few times, got up, stomped his feet and switched on the video monitor. 
He was still stomping his feet, trying to force the fatigue from his body, when the video screen caught his attention. Is this a live feed he thought to himself? He stared at the monitor a few more seconds before his training took over. He grabbed a sidearm, a rifle and the satellite phone and darted out of the room.
The images on the monitor screen, that sent Major Chonk sprinting away, shows the one handed zombie from the lower level, opening up the doors to the medical wing, releasing all of the recently turned zombies.
In the medical wing, three levels down, on the other side of the cameras that were providing the images to the monitors in the command room, all hell is breaking loose, figuratively and literally.
Four soldiers are following a standard ‘tap and cover’ retreat formation; falling back one at a time, ‘tapping’ the point man on the helmet once they have passed him, the point man providing cover fire to support the retreat. Somehow, the creatures that had been secured inside the examination room have managed to escape. The six soldiers posted outside the wing managed to contain them initially, but the problem occurred when the four former security team members made their way down the hall. They were still wearing uniforms, protective gear and carrying their weapons. It momentarily confused the soldiers, and lead to their demise. Two quickly fell to the onslaught, and the remaining four opted to retreat when they realized that their bullets were doing nothing to slow down the creatures.
The gunfire inside the narrow hallway was deafening. As often happens, the four soldiers had panicked, forgotten the information from the training briefing that only headshots could stop their attackers, and were quickly expending all of the ammunition they had. The battle was playing out in slow motion, the attackers moving slowly down the hallway and the soldiers retreating one by one. 
The soldier on point covering the retreat was unaware that his weapon had stopped firing, his hearing had long since been compromised because of the close quarters fighting, and he was no longer able to distinguish the sound of his weapon from the rest of his team’s. He continued to pull the trigger, dry firing while he counted the taps…one, two…he didn’t make it to three, because the third tap never came. The third soldier had been snagged, and was being wrestled to the ground. The point soldier, unaware that his weapon was no longer firing was quickly overrun. The remaining two sentries, both out of ammunition now too, broke from the retreat formation and began running down the hallway toward the elevator. They stood, back to back, tactical knives in hand praying that the elevator arrived before the creatures did.
Inside the elevator car, Major Chonk is barking into the satellite phone, “Listen to me Corporal, I don’t give a rat’s ass what he is doing, you get the general on the phone right now or I am going to make you wish that your Daddy and Mommy never met. I have a situation here and I need to brief the General.”
While he is waiting for the General, the elevator arrives at level three, and the doors open to reveal the carnage. The final two soldiers have gone down and the zombies are still feasting on them, biting huge chunks of flesh from their prone bodies. 
The ‘ding’ of the elevator arriving arouses the attention of the zombies outside the elevator and they begin to converge on the open doors. Major Chonk is able to take down three of the zombies with precise headshots, while desperately trying to get the doors to close, wildly pressing buttons. He is unsuccessful keeping them out; the zombies move forward and crowd into the elevator car. Clear of obstruction, the doors glide closed, and the elevator begins its accent to every floor in the building. He fights as long as he can; especially considering the circumstances of the close quarter combat he is involved in, but Major Chonk never sees the second level. The zombie with one hand delivers the fatal bite, severing the Major’s carotid artery.
With the Major gone, there is nothing stopping the zombies from shuffling out at each floor the elevator stops at. Most leave the car on the first stop, level two, the dorm floor, where the rest of the soldiers are currently soundly asleep.
The sleeping soldiers don’t stand a chance. Most are getting their first few hours of rest since arriving onsite; they are so deep under that they would probably sleep through just about anything.
The zombies seem to be attacking strategically, delivering a quick bite, and then moving to the next sleeping victim. The awakening soldiers are just on that level on grogginess, unsure if what is happening is real, or just a bad dream. 
Once all of the sleeping soldiers have been ‘bitten’ awake, the one handed zombie pulls the fire alarm in the sleeping dorm, engaging the strobe lights and overriding all of the security locks on the doors within the facility.



Chapter 27
“Are you kidding me Mike? Or should I say General?” Jimmy asks sarcastically while issuing a mock salute.
“Knock it off Jimmy, I just lost contact with Major Chonk back at Syscorp, and I have a bad feeling about what may have happened. I do not plan on losing contact with you, or the Doctor. Just stay put and you can help me interview the girl that Captain Hellatoni is bringing in.”
“What do you mean lost contact; did you try the satellite phone?”
“He called on the satellite, before I could pick it up, he was gone. I haven’t been able to get him back; I haven’t been able to reach anyone on the normal transmitter either.”
Before Jimmy can continue the conversation, Captain Hellatoni pulls up in the jeep. He helps Amy out, and escorts her toward Jimmy and Mike. “General, Mr. Gaston, this is Amy Sunoon. She has told me an interesting story that you might like to hear.”
“Hello Miss Sunoon, I am General Balchor, and this is Jimmy Gaston. If you will excuse me for just a moment, Jimmy, please keep our new guest company. Captain, if I can have a word with you please.” The General and the Captain walk ten paces away.
“Captain, I need you to take ten men and go back to the command post. I have lost contact with Major Chonk. I want you to assume that the building has been compromised, take no chances. I am going to call back the forward team, and we will be bringing up your flank in about forty minutes.”
“No disrespect General, but are you sure you don’t want me to wait until the forward team is back and we are at full strength?”
“No disrespect taken Captain, and I would very much prefer to wait, but I do not believe that I have that luxury right now. I need you to scout the command post, and let me know the status A.S.A.P. And Captain, I would have been concerned had you not questioned my logic, well done son.”
The Captain is already barking out orders as the General returns his attention to Jimmy and Amy. “Alright then Miss Sunoon, do you feel up to telling your story again?”
“You can call me Amy, and like I told Captain Hellatoni, I will tell you anything you want to know, in exchange for a cigarette.” 
“Somebody get me a pack of cigarettes and a lighter!” Mike shouted at nobody in particular, and within a minute he had three brands to choose from.
“Will one of these suffice?” He asks holding the cigarettes out to Amy; she takes all three packs. 
Mike and Jimmy listen to her story, stopping her occasionally for some clarification. OhAy joins them mid story and listens intently. Amy finishing the story, and her eighth cigarette, and lets out a sigh 
OhAy speaks first. “General, if this woman is telling the truth, we have a serious situation on our hands.”
“Every word is true, if you don’t believe me all you have to do is get in that jeep and drive back down the road.” Amy said pointing over her shoulder.
Mike answers her, “Amy, I have no doubt that your story is mostly, if not all true. I am curious about one thing though. You mentioned you had an on again, off again boyfriend.”
“Ya, Breaker, he is absolutely my ex-boyfriend now.”
“Breaker; that is a unique nickname, any chance his real name is Francis?”
“Ya, Francis O’Leary, but I wouldn’t recommend calling him that to his face. Can I go sit down for a while? I am beat.” She walks back toward the jeep before Mike has a chance to answer her.
Jimmy steps up to Mike, “Francis O’Leary, why do I recognize that name Mike?”
“You probably heard about him during an intelligence briefing when we were picking security team members. He is a former SEAL, highly decorated, he went rogue after the September eleven attacks. He, and a couple of his team members, launched an unsanctioned wave of attacks and took out quite a few Al Qaeda factions. He was allowed to retire, and avoid court martial in exchange for a non-disclosure agreement. I can tell you he is one Bad Ass Mother, and certainly someone I would not want to piss off.”
“General, I can guarantee you that if what Amy is telling us is true; you are going to want to piss him off even less.”
Mike and Jimmy both look at OhAy like she was crazy.
“During her story, she talked about how Breaker’s eyes were glowing red. You both have seen zombies; they don’t have red glowing eyes. I think that I now know what happened to the Loa that was inside Z. I think that Breaker is now Azaka.”
Jimmy interrupts OhAy. “Can you do your ceremony again, get Azaka out of Breaker?”
“No, it is too late. Azaka must have undergone re-birthing. He is free to do as he pleases now.”
Before Mike or Jimmy can really even understand what OhAy is saying, one of the soldiers approaches the group. ‘Excuse me General; I have an urgent call for you on the satellite.”
“Finally, word from the command post, Major Chonk you had me worried, is everything alright back there?”
“Hello, this is Cam, Cam Alk; sorry I mean Corporal Alk.”
“Just calm down and relax Corporal Camalk, are you at the command post?”
“No Sir, I am at the forward post. We have a situation Sir I don’t think we can hold out, I respectfully request permission to withdraw and retreat.”
“What kind of situation?” Mike asks hearing the faintest sounds of gunfire in the background. “I was under the impression that Captain Hellatoni left you with orders not to engage.”
“Sir, we did not engage. We are defending ourselves, Sir. There must be hundreds, maybe thousands of those things, the zombies; they are attacking us and I swear they are using strategy, almost like they know where we are and what we are going to do.” Louder gunfire drowns out his voice on the phone.
“Corporal, are you still there? Corporal, I want you and the team to fall back to my position, fall back immediately, I will send out a team to meet you.”
Mike has a panicked look on his face. “Get Captain Hellatoni on the radio, tell him to abort and return to this location. Then assemble a team and head out to meet the forward team and cover their retreat.”
“Sir, there is no answer from Captain Hellatoni.”
“Well keep trying him, damn it, keep trying.”



Chapter 28
The small band of soldiers moves silently across the field with Captain Hellatoni in the point position issuing orders via hand signals and eye contact. All radios had been rigged for silent, tuned to a short-wave frequency that only broadcasts 200 meters, used only for mic clicks.
Two by two the soldiers traverse the field and assemble below a three inch electrical conduit exiting the perimeter wall of the Syscorp facility. Captain Hellatoni twists the cap from the conduit, reaches inside and presses a recessed button. Just below the conduit, a panel opens in the wall, revealing a forty-eight button keypad. He enters the complicated code and waits. To his right, an access hatch slides open, revealing a crawlspace. He knows that the tunnel leads to a secure bunker on the second level of the facility. He also knows that once opened from the outside, the hatch can’t be secured again, except from inside the bunker. He instructs two of his men to stay and guard the entrance and takes the other seven with him. 
They travel the tunnel in a two, three, two pattern, the Captain on point until they reach the bunker. Captain Hellatoni keys his radio once, letting the two soldiers outside know that they have made it into the bunker, he receives an audible click back from outside.
Inside the bunker is an array of instrumentation and work station positions. Along the wall is a desk with a computer and telephone. He picks up the telephone receiver from the desk, dials a three digit extension…no answer. He tries the extension for the command center…no answer; the cafeteria, the dormitory, the gymnasium...nothing. He instructs two soldiers to remain in the bunker and then leads the remaining five out into the corridor.
The facility is strangely quiet, only the sound of the air circulators humming in the background. The group continues down the corridor, Captain Hellatoni leading the way. He signals ‘all stop’ when he approaches a ninety degree turn to the right. He peers around the corner, and sees two men in combat gear staggering down the hall, with the one handed zombie, from the basement containment level, between them. He approaches them, walking briskly and with a purpose. “You there, what is going on, why are you roaming around the halls with that creature, and why is it not secured? I am talking to you two; do you know where Major Chonk is?” 
The three continued to shuffle away from him, which causes his temper to boil.
“This is Captain Hellatoni speaking; I order you to stop, turn around and identify yourselves.” He was a few feet away from them now, and he reaches out to grab one of the soldiers by the shoulder. “What is going on here, why is this thing out of its cell; and why are you allowing it to roam the halls?” 
As his hand touches the soldier on the shoulder, they both turn around to finally face him. He freezes, yanking his hand back, and bringing his weapon up to the ready position. He is shocked, what he thought was a pair of soldiers, two men, is actually two more of those things, like the creature, the one handed zombie, from the lower containment level. He is unable to comprehend how the zombie had escaped from restraints and get out of the room; more perplexing…why are there two more of them, wearing uniforms and carrying weapons? He is very confused, and unsure of what to do. The three zombies began advancing toward him as he is backpedaling down the hallway, in a state of shock and stupor. He is dragged back to reality by the sound of automatic weapon fire. The five soldiers behind him had been observing since they heard him call out, once the zombies began advancing on their Captain they opened fire. He joined in, bracing his weapon against his hip and sweeping it back and forth in a killing arc. Still the three zombies keep advancing. 
He is now down the corridor, back in ranks with his men; they form a line across the hallway and lay down an overlapping field of fire while gradually retreating. The six of them empty three clips of ammunition each, filling the passageway with acrid smoke. The soldiers squint their eyes trying to pick up any movement, but there is none. They each reload and huddled around their Captain. 
“Sir, what the hell is going on?”
“Why were those things wearing uniforms?”
Before he can answer, the third soldier levels his weapon and aims back down the hallway. “Sir, look!”
The one handed zombie is still alive. It has been cut in half by the hail of bullets, and is pulling itself down the hallway with its hand. Captain Hellatoni pulls his sidearm, walks up to the half zombie, and shoots it between the eyes. He turns toward his men. “I do not know what is going on, but remember, head shots only from here on out. Break radio silence; tell the sentries in the bunker and outside what is going on.”
The soldier attempts to reach the bunker several times, but gets no answer. “Sir, I can’t reach the bunker, or the sentries outside.”
“Damn it! Alright, no problem let me think for a minute.” He grabs one of the soldiers by the shirt. “You haul ass back to the bunker, call the guys outside in and then call the General. Tell him exactly what has happened, and ask him for a new set of orders. The rest of you, come with me back down the hallway. I want to set up a couple of tripwires and mines.”
The lone soldier starts back down the hallway in the opposite direction, while the rest of the group moves forward.



Chapter 29
A private first class timidly approaches the General. “Sir, we can’t establish communication with the scout team, or with the group that was sent out to support their retreat. Sir, we also have not been able to contact Captain Hellatoni or his team either.” He squirms in his boots, hoping that the General doesn’t ‘shoot the messenger’.
“Alright private, pass the word, I want everyone ready to move out in two minutes. Send the radio operator over here.”
Jimmy and OhAy approach as Mike is taking an envelope from his pocket. “Tune the radio to ‘emergency guard 243 MHz’ and send this message foxes are on the farm and may be in the hen house, the rooster is in the bushes and the farmer needs to bring the cows in from pasture. Send the message and then bring me the satellite phone.”
Jimmy reaches out and grabs Mike’s shoulder. “Mike, what is going on?” 
Before Mike can answer the satellite phone rings.
“General Balchor here, yes Sir I believe that it is that serious. No Sir, Specimen Z is not secure, nor is the building. Sir, I believe that reports from surrounding towns will be coming in very soon. I recommend a tri-state mobilization, full umbrella perimeter with immediate search and destroy parameters. Yes Sir, we will do what we can from inside the perimeter. No Sir, let me check. Dr. Solaine, the President would like to know if Specimen Z is any different than any of the other zombies that have resulted from our current outbreak.”
OhAy shakes her head back and forth to indicate no.
“Mr. President, Dr. Solaine has indicated that there is no difference. Yes Sir. Including the small group of scientists, the security team, Mr. Gaston and Dr. Solaine there are twenty; no Sir, including myself; I bring the count to twenty-one. Yes Sir, I understand. We will confirm the status of the building, and then await evacuation. Thank you, Sir.”
Mike looks at Jimmy and OhAy, “The President of the United States just wished us good luck.”
OhAy speaks first. “General, the President is already planning on securing another specimen, isn’t he? That is why he asked about Z, right?
“Doctor, I am not certain what the President plans to do. What I do know is that we have less than ninety minutes to make a visual evaluation on the status of Syscorp, and then make our way to the evacuation site.”
Jimmy interrupts. “Mike, what about the men deployed down the road, are we going to wait for them?”
“We are moving out in two minutes.”
“Mike…”
“Damn it Jimmy, I do not want to do this with you again. Those men knew what they were getting into, and they are all aware of what the fall back contingency is. I will give the order to commence broadcasting the rendezvous code over all frequencies, with the zero time for evacuation. Anybody at the evacuation site will be airlifted out.”
“I am sorry Mike. Do I have time to call the hospital and check on Julie before we move out?”
“It won’t do any good Jimmy, part of the contingency plan I just recommended to the President involves a total communication blackout, to avoid panic and widespread pandemonium. The government has just started jamming all communication and broadcast channels. Within a few minutes a UH-60M Blackhawk, equipped with Eagle-eye satellite will be giving the president a real time view of what is going on. He will then decide what the next course of action will be.”
OhAy begins to speak. “General, this is exactly what I told you would happen during my initial briefing. You should call your President back right now, and tell him to wipe this whole area off the map right now, not in a couple of hours, before it is too late. If what I suspect is true, and Azaka is back, then there is no salvaging this situation. I can only imagine why he chose to stay on this plane of existence; he wants to punish who he feels responsible for keeping him imprisoned. He wants to kill as many humans as possible.”
“Doctor I respect your opinion, but I have my orders. Please get ready to move out. I would like to be at Syscorp in less than twenty minutes.”
OhAy rolls her eyes and exhales deeply. “General, I would like that weapon now.



Chapter 30
Azaka is very happy with the way events are unfolding. Utilizing his new found warfare knowledge he has led his zombie warriors to victory over the human soldiers. He approaches a tightly grouped circle of his zombie warriors, and they part for him. Inside the circle is a live human soldier.
He places his hands on the soldier’s head and concentrates. Everything the soldier is thinking is being transferred to Azaka, everything. Once he is satisfied that there is nothing more to learn, he twists and jerks his arms violently, tearing off the soldier’s head. The soldier’s body slumps down to the ground and Azaka steps back to allow his warriors to feast. He cracks the decapitated head like a coconut, pulls out the brain and takes a huge slimy bite. He scarfs down the entire organ, licking the gooey sticky blood from his fingers one by one.
He concentrates on the hoard, sharing with them what he now knows. He communicates that they are going to be moving forward, down the road, toward the Syscorp building. He tells them that there will be more of their kind at the building, and that it is important to attack and infect them as well as all humans they come into contact with. He reaches his thought out to the newest members, the zombie soldiers. He tells them to move ahead of the rest of the group, and to walk backwards, imitating a retreat formation, firing the weapons they hold over the zombie group. His mind is pulled away by the sound of helicopter rotors; he gazes up at the super Blackhawk, and then returns his mind to his warriors.



Chapter 31
All members of the White House senior staff, cabinet members and appropriate members of congress have watched the project briefing tape, and have been brought up to speed. The initial shock is gone and they are now all aware, although still somewhat skeptical, that zombies do indeed exist; and are currently rampaging across a small town outside of Pittsburgh. The President and his advisors are watching the images, arriving on the monitors, from the helicopter. The helicopter continues on its path, and the video images continue to fill the monitor screens.
As the sun begins to rise across the horizon, the devastation is indescribable. Shuffling, meandering groups of the zombies are still ravishing small bands of human survivors. The zombies relentlessly pursue the humans, like wild animals. Flesh and muscle is being torn off the bone by gnashing teeth. Ribbons of ligament and cartilage pulled, like taffy, by crimson stained fingers.
There are thousands of the shuffling creatures, all moving in the same direction. The helicopter continues along, as similar scenes of carnage flood the monitors. One of the advisors interrupts the macabre images with a question.
“Mr. President, what are the plans for containment? Will you be asking the Governor to mobilize and send in the National Guard?”
The President replies, not taking his eyes from the carnage. “No guard inside the perimeter, too much of a chance the Governor will try to impose her influence. The guard can stay right where they are and work an outside containment keep civilians out and babysit the media. I don’t want them getting in the way. We will use Army Rangers, Expeditionary Marines and Navy Seals to jointly set up a containment perimeter; I only want operators with a secret or higher clearance inside the perimeter. 160th Airborne, if necessary, will handle the evacuation flight and Air Force Special Operations will deliver the payload.”
“Sir, I do not understand.”
“This is a ‘contain and eradicate’ mission only. General Michael Balchor is currently in the field, with a small team of soldiers and experts. He has a small window to reach an evacuation point. At zero hour, with or without the General being out of the containment area, the Air Force will destroy a one-hundred mile radius around the town of Apollo.”
“Mr. President, you may want to take a look at the wall monitor; we are streaming a live news broadcast from the area.” On the big screen monitor, an image of a man standing behind a set of wooden barricades flashes to life The scrolling banner at the bottom of the screen reads Live from Apollo, PA.. The president curses under his breath. “Tell NSA to kill all media communication within 300 miles of Apollo. I want a squad on that bridge, ten minutes ago, and I want that reporter muzzled! How the hell did a news crew get on that bridge?”
The entire group turns back to the real time military monitors. The scene now playing is of a small group of soldiers retreating from a large group of zombies. The President speaks again. “Someone get in touch with that pilot and tell him to use whatever weaponry he has to support that group of soldiers, and to land long enough to get them out of there.”



Chapter 32
“This is John Macgregor, Chanel Three Pittsburgh, reporting live from the Leonard C. Miller Bridge in Apollo. As you can see from the sign nailed to the wooden barricade blocking the road, no traffic is being permitted into, or out of the Upper Apollo area. If I was able to go over the bridge, we would be able to show you video of a train, stopped in the middle of the crossing, ensuring no vehicular traffic. Requests for Air Chopper Three to fly overhead have been denied by local FAA officials. We have received similar reports from people in the communities of Murrysville, Leechburg, Vandergrift and Burrell, that all access into Upper Apollo has been restricted.”
The camera man waves his hand to try and get John’s attention, but John continues his soliloquy. 
“This area is obviously no stranger to controversial events. One only has to go back to the final week of 1979, when the now infamous duo of Lesko and Travaglia started on an alleged killing spree that traversed the New Year. One of the last victims of that ‘thrill kill’ spree spent the final moments of his life right where I am standing, and died on this very bridge, which now carries bears his name. Just fourteen years earlier, 1965, the area was again mired in controversy over the then dubbed ‘Apollo Affair’ which saw the NUMEC corporation loose over 200 pounds of uranium. I do not know exactly what is happening now, but I suspect it has something to do with the Syscorp complex and the mysterious vehicle accident that occurred just days ago. Reporting live, from controversial downtown Apollo, this is John Macgregor back to you in the studio.”
The camera man, Burt Piernersky, takes the camera away from his shoulder. “Ah, hey John, I just thought you should know, that did not go out live. Something happened as soon as you started talking. I got it all on film, so it can be broadcast later.”
“What the hell do you mean we lost the live feed? Call the station right now, get Harry on the line. We are out here breaking the law, probably risking our lives and that son of a bitch Harry cut our live feed, I am going to have his ass.”
“John, look man, I don’t think the station did anything, and my cell phone isn’t working either; check yours and see if you have a signal.”
“Mine is dead too. Huh?”
“John, what exactly did you mean by breaking the law?”
“Burt, you dumb ass, we are about five miles inside of a secure containment area. The military might even shoot us if they catch us.” He winks at Burt. “Alright, to hell with it, get in the van; let’s get out of here before the military does show up.”
Just then, John spots a group of people, behind the train on the other side of the bridge. “Burt, hold on a minute, I think there are people over there.” John points as he dashes across the bridge.
Burt whines. “John come on; let’s just get out of here.” But he knows better and follows John across the bridge, camera at the ready.
John slides under the train head first, and calls for Burt to turn on the camera, and do the same. Burt obliges John, but goes under feet first. Burt cries out when John grabs his feet and roughly pulls him through.
“Knock it off John, that hurts and I almost dropped the camera.”
He does drop the camera, once he is pulled the entire way through. The camera continues to record, catching the group of zombies bite and pull bloody chunks of flesh from John and Burt. Burt is still kicking and trying to scream when the army jeep pulls up next to the news van on the bridge. Unable to locate the reporter and camera man, the soldiers drive off.
 



Chapter 33
Captain Hellatoni has sent his group ahead and is trailing the four men back to the bunker, after successfully laying down mines and tripwires as an early warning defensive perimeter. He has decided that once the entire group is back together, the ten of them will sweep the hallway in the opposite direction, set up a similar defensive perimeter, and then hunker down in the bunker unless the General says differently.
The soldiers have turned the corner, just as an explosion resonates from the direction they had just retreated from. “You men continue back to the bunker, set up a perimeter on the opposite hallway, and send one man out to bring in the two sentries. Once everyone is in the bunker, secure the hatch and wait for me. I want to see if any of those things set off the next set of mines.”
The men follow his order, and continue down the hallway. He checks the ammo clips in both his rifle and sidearm, and then waits. After three minutes, he decides that nothing is approaching, so he turns to go back to the bunker. He stops, only momentarily, when the sound of automatic weapon fire echoes off the walls, followed by screams of agony and terror.
He begins to run toward the sound, turns the corner and runs right into a zombie. The force of the impact knocks the creature to the ground, and he instinctively levels his weapon and sends three bullets right into its face. The sound of his weapon immediately attracts the attention of four more zombies, and they begin to stagger toward him. He begins to back down the hallway, when he hears one of the mines explode, behind him, over his shoulder.
Operating only on adrenaline and training, he fires a quick burst into the lock of the first door he passes, slams his shoulder into it and slips inside. As he is closing the door, he tosses two fragment grenades toward the four approaching zombies. After a quick visual assessment, he drags a desk and a couple of chairs in front of the door and then backs into a darkened corner.
The grenades successfully eliminate the four zombies, but the sound resonates all the way back to the bunker. There is a group of zombies inside the bunker that are just finishing off the rest of Captain Hellatoni’s squad, some of them start to walk toward the sound of the explosion; and some manage to stumble into the darkened passageway leading outside.



Chapter 34
The trip back to Syscorp takes closer to half an hour. The small group of soldiers, minus two, is deployed in a makeshift defensive perimeter. Mike is sitting on the hood of a jeep, impatiently waiting for a report from the two soldiers he sent forward to investigate the outer wall of the compound. He is rolling a hollow point .45 caliber bullet across the fingers of his right hand. Over the knuckle, under the finger, over the knuckle, under the finger; he could do this over and over, picking up speed with each pass.
The bullet falls, clinking off of the jeeps hood, when a burst of loud static resonates out of the radio sitting next to him. The two soldiers report back that the secret escape hatch is open, and protected by two trip-wired land mines. Mike tells the soldiers to return, and bends down to pick up the bullet.
"Hey Mike is everything alright? Did the men find anything up around the wall?" Jimmy asks approaching Mike.
Mike looks up at Jimmy, the bullet now traveling across his knuckles again. "The hidden escape door is open; it appears as if Captain Hellatoni and his men followed protocol by booby trapping the opening. They tried to reach Captain Hellatoni on the emergency hailing frequency, but got no answer."
Jimmy sits down next to Mike on the Jeeps hood. "So what are we going to do Mike? We have a group of men that did not make the retreat back here with us; and we have a group of men inside the building that we've lost contact with. Are we just going to leave them all behind?"
The bullet begins to fall from Mike's hand again but this time he snaps out with his other hand and catches the bullet before it lands. "No, Jimmy, I don't think that we will." Mike is on his feet walking towards the soldier with the satellite phone; his right hand is already subconsciously sliding the bullet back into the clip from which it came.
"Corporal, I want you to get on the phone to the President and tell him that the building appears to be secured. You tell him that I am going to lead a team inside the building to get positive confirmation and that we're going to need an additional hour to reach the extraction point." He grabbed the walkie-talkie from his belt and barked into it, ordering the perimeter soldiers back to base camp. “Jimmy, I am going to take half the squad into the building and get Captain Hellatoni and his men. I want you to take the other half and go back and find the men we left on the road.”
The soldier with the satellite phone approaches and waits patiently to speak. “Sir, the President said to tell you that you have thirty extra minutes, and not a second more. He also said that the communications helicopter picked up the men retreating down the road.”
Mike looked at Jimmy. “I guess this means you get to fall back to the extraction point and do your best to stall if I am not there on time.”
“Mike, you know as well as I do that the chopper is taking off right on time no matter what I do; and that a pretty big bomb is going to land on that building about thirty seconds later.”
Mike just grins back at Jimmy and walks off to lead his group into the building.



Chapter 35
“Man oh man, no offense fellas, but how long have you guys been swimming around in that swamp? You guys smell worse than the shit house in July.” The black hawk pilot yelled back to the group of soldiers he just picked up from the road. 
None of them answered. They simply sat hunched together, staring at the floor. They had very specific orders from Azaka.
The airship makes another pass over the hoard of zombies below, and both gunners stop laughing at the pilot’s joke and resume pumping .50 caliber shells into the hoard. One of them stopped suddenly, and got the other gunners attention.
“I think I see a guy on a motorcycle riding out in front of those things.” 
The other gunner walks across and looks. “Damn; there is a guy on a bike, sweet looking ride too. Go tell Hanuno to call in and see if we should try an extraction.” The second gunner said motioning to the pilot. He walked up toward the cockpit. “Hey Hanuno, me and Drew are pretty sure there is some unlucky bastard trying to outrun those things on a chopper down there.”
He gave himself the nickname Han for being the self-proclaimed best helicopter pilot in the Army; his friends combined it with the word Uno, not because of his Hispanic heritage, but because Uno was, in their best estimation; Spanish for ‘solo’. 
“I know, I already radioed it in. Command has ordered us to do a flyby over some compound a couple of clicks down the road and then to get back and refuel for some extraction mission. Hope he has a full tank of gas, because he is on his own.”
The Blackhawk banked sharply to the left two times, and then was heading away from the hoard, back down the road toward the Syscorp building. The five rescued soldiers are still sitting quietly in the back, not speaking or engaging any of the Blackhawk crew, just looking down at the floor, emitting a foul, rotten odor.



Chapter 36
Including himself, but not counting Jimmy, OhAy and the other researchers, there are fifteen soldiers left. Mike sends six to escort the researchers to the extraction point, under the command of Jimmy, and takes the remaining eight with him into the building.
They disarm the mines at the entrance, and go into the tunnel using a ‘point cover’ formation, one man in the lead, two groups of three and two men covering the rear. They have been in the tunnel less than two minutes when gunfire erupts from the point man. Mike orders the two rear guards to stop and ensure the escape route remains open, then leads the remaining five forward to engage.
They almost collide with the point man as he is retreating down the tunnel toward them at full speed.
“General, there are at least fifteen of those zombies up ahead. Sir, they are dressed in uniform and are carrying weapons.”
Mike is astonished. “Are they using the weapons?”
“No Sir, I don’t think they can. They are just shuffling around bumping into each other.”
“Alright, everyone relax and stay calm. Check your weapons, full clip in, full clip ready to go. I want you two men prone, you two kneeling and you stand next to me. You, hustle back to the rear, send the other two up to me, and then mine the entrance with mines and trip wires. I want you to hunker down halfway in the tunnel; nothing gets in past you. If you have to, blow the entrance, nothing gets past you.” The soldier salutes and scurries down the tunnel.
“Remember men, head shots only, conserve your ammo, one shot one kill.”
The group of zombies slowly approaches the makeshift skirmish line of soldiers. Mike tosses a luminescing flare and the firing begins. In less than thirty seconds the zombies are down and the soldiers are reloading. “Be careful, but check those things for ammo, take any ordinance that you need too.”
One of the soldiers lets out a gasp. “General, I think that this thing used to be Major Chonk.” 
Mike walks over and stares at the disfigured creature wearing a Major’s uniform, and shakes his head in disbelief. The creature is still moving, trying to grab Mike’s leg. Mike aims his sidearm and fires a precise shot into the zombies head. He kneels down and unpins the gold oak leaves from the uniform collar and places them in his pocket.
Mike walks up to one of the soldiers. “You stay here, when the other two get up, I want you three to bring up the rear. Stop every thirty feet and place mines and tripwires. We will wait for you at the end of the tunnel in the control room.” The soldier salutes as Mike walks away. 
“Alright men, follow me!” Mike shouts to the remaining soldiers as he heads down the tunnel corridor.



Chapter 37
Backed into a corner, literally and figuratively, Captain Brice Hellatoni is just finishing an inventory of his remaining ammunition. He cocks his head slightly to the left, and then right side. Gunfire! That sounds like gunfire! He walks across the room, places the side of his head up against the door, and listens. He stays in that position for what feels like an eternity. He is about to give up, when two more shots ring out. Yep, that is gunfire for sure, and based on the echo, it is coming from the tunnel. He pushes the desk aside quietly, and slowly opens the door. 
He pokes his head out, ever so slightly. The hallway is clear in both directions. He slips his head back into the room and closes the door. He unsheathes his bayonet and secures it to the end of his rifle. He checks his sidearm, full clip and one in the chamber, then his rifle, locked and loaded. He pulls the door open again, slowly, checks the hall, and slips out. 
He creeps down the hallway, toward the bunker room. As he approaches the first ninety degree turn in the hallway, he stops and checks the security mirror mounted in the top left corner of the intersecting hallway; the coast is clear. He walks to the end of the intersecting hallway and checks the next security mirror in the corner, nothing in the next hallway either. He trots back down the hallway and sets his last grenade and tripwire, then hustles back to the end. 
He finally turns the last corner, and approaches the doorway to the bunker, it is closed. He leans up against the door and listens. He hears something, maybe breathing, maybe not. He holds his breath and listens more intently. Is that movement, cloth on cloth, leather on tile? That is someone, or something, moving. It has to be.
He switches sides and puts his other ear up against the door, holds his breath again and listens. Convinced that what he is hearing is human, not creature, he puts his hand on the knob.



Chapter 38
The soldier with his head pressed up against the door steps back and begins using hand signals to communicate with Mike. He is a bit overzealous, and moves his whole arm instead of just his hand. His uniform sleeve rubs against itself at the crook of his elbow.
Mike waves him away from the door. The men gather around Mike as he begins to speak in muted whispers.
“I have no idea what to expect on the other side of that door. Judging by what we encountered in the tunnel, I am not optimistic. We are going to move down the hallway to the armory, replenish our ammunition, and then find out what the hell is going on around here. Everyone make sure you are locked and loaded, head shots only, I do not want anyone to panic. Stay calm and remember your training. Don’t let the fact that some of those things are wearing uniforms discourage you. Anything that isn’t human, shoot to kill, that is an order.”
The soldiers silently salute their General, and begin preparing their weapons. Mike walks over to the door and places his hand on the knob. As he begins to turn the knob down, he feels pressure against the knob, as if it is being turned from the outside. He applies a bit more pressure, and…KA-BOOM! An explosions from somewhere in the hallway resonates through the bunker room.



Chapter 39
“Alright you guys, I just got a new set of orders, I am supposed to do a touchdown inside of the parking compound, and you five are supposed to link up with a General Balchor. Comprende, Amigos?” Hanuno shots to the back of the copter.
No answer from the smelly group. They were content to follow the thought that Azaka had implanted into what was left of their brains. Stay together, stay away from the humans and keep your heads down. If anyone attacks you, kill them. If the helicopter lands, kill the crew and pilot.
“Hanuno those swamp rats don’t speak your native language.” Drew yelled up to the cockpit. “Let me translate.” He turned back toward the group. “When we touch down I want you to get your stinky asses off of our bird.”
“Thanks Drew.” Hanuno yelled back. “You and Tyler get strapped into your jump seats, I am taking us down. He raised his voice a little louder so the soldiers in the back could hear him. “Seriously fellas, I need you up and moving as soon as we touch down.” He waited for an answer, eye contact, anything, but got nothing. 
As soon as the landing skids touch the ground, the five were up on their feet, moving forward. At least they understand English, Hanuno thought to himself.
They did not exit the helicopter, two attacked each strapped in gunner, and one went for Hanuno. Hanuno was able to get two shots off from his sidearm; the gunners didn’t stand a chance. It was over in a matter of minutes. The zombie that severed Hanuno’s jugular left him to bleed to death and walked past Tyler convulsing in his straps, and hastily joined the others feasting on Drew. Azaka had been very clear; mortally wound the pilot, turn one of the gunners, the other was theirs to consume, brains and all.
Jimmy is leading his rag tag band toward the predetermined extraction point, when he sees the helicopter touching down inside the Syscorp parking compound. He looks at OhAy shaking his head. “The Army hasn’t changed one bit since I left. I cannot tell you how many extractions points I showed up at and never saw my ride out.” He stops and turns to address the group. “Well, it looks like some wires got crossed on the extraction point; we are going to head up that way, to the parking lot.” He said pointing toward the building.



Chapter 40
Old Glory lets out a few sputtering coughs just before her engine cuts off. She coasts forward a few hundred feet before coming to a complete stop. Azaka steps off, and lets her fall to the ground. He can see the compound ahead, and has already telepathically confirmed that the helicopter is waiting for him. After having them power down the copter, he instructed the zombies to move forward toward the building.
The undead army behind him numbers in the thousands now, and he is having a difficult time concentrating enough to keep them all on point. He sends out a final telepathic blast, converge on the building, attack and kill everyone inside. Once all of the humans inside the building are dead, or turned, I release you to kill and consume everyone you come into contact with.
He brings his thoughts back into his own head, and starts toward the compound. He wants to reach the helicopter before the pilot dies, so he can learn how to fly. As he approaches a crest in the road, he sees a group of humans, making their way to the helicopter. He begins to run.
Jimmy and his group reach the helicopter and discover the carnage. Jimmy climbs in and sees what is left of the gunner, which isn’t much. He sees the huge wound on the pilot’s neck and the substantial pool of blood on the cockpit floor and assumes the worst. 
He exits the helicopter and addresses the group. “I do not think that this is our extraction helicopter. It is too small; it would never be able to carry all of us. I have decided that I am going to take four soldiers with me into the building, I want the rest of you to continue to the planned extraction point.” Jimmy points out four soldiers, and motions for the rest of the group to move on.
OhAy is kneeling on the ground trying to comfort Amy, the girl that the soldiers had found on the road. “I am staying with you Jimmy.” OhAy calls out.
Jimmy walks toward OhAy and Amy; she is near hysterics when Jimmy approaches.
“What is going on, what is wrong with her? Oh, and by the way you are going with the group to the extraction point.”
“I don’t know, she just started screaming, and shaking. Oh, and by the way I am staying with you.”
Before Jimmy can argue, Amy points down the road, and screams something other than gibberish. “It’s Breaker!”
Jimmy and OhAy turn their heads in the direction that Amy is pointing. They see what Amy sees. Jogging toward them is Breaker; at least in body. OhAy notices his fiery red pupils even at this distance. 
OhAy grabs Jimmy by the arm. “We need to get out of here, that thing coming toward us is not Breaker, it is a Loa possessed zombie. It is Azaka!”
Jimmy shakes his head. “We should head toward the building, fast!” He calls out to the group. “Alright, everyone listen to me, I want you to get out of here, move as fast as you can. OhAy come and help Amy, we will have to take her with us.” He looks at the four soldiers. “We have to get to the building, as quickly as possible.”
One of the soldiers yells back to him. “The building is at least half of a mile away.”
“Actually it is just under half a mile, four and seven tenths to be exact. Just get on the moving sidewalk and sit down; I can override the speed controls with my access card, once everyone is on I will crank it up to 30 miles per hour. That will get us there in just about 46 seconds.”
Everyone gets onboard the sidewalk; Jimmy slides his card and punches a sequence on the keypad. The conveyor picks up speed immediately. As the group is being shuttled along, Jimmy touches OhAy’s arm and points. There are six zombies, in soldier uniforms, trying to walk up the gravely terrain that the sidewalk is suspended over. They are having no luck, and appear to be stuck. 
“We designed the surrounding area to be unnavigable. Peat moss and sand footings topped with loose gravel, all on a slight incline. The first hundred feet or so is solid, after that forget about it. If they do make it any further, they will hit the quick sand.”
OhAy taps one of the soldiers sitting next to her. “Shoot those things, in the head.” She looks back at Jimmy, smiling. “I am sure the quick sand would have got them, but just in case.”
Azaka is just arriving at the helicopter when the shots ring out. He saw the humans leaving the parking lot, walking toward the building. He could care less about them right now. He climbs aboard the helicopter and heads right toward the pilot. Hanuno is still alive, barely, but still alive. Breaker pulls what he needs out of Hanuno’s brain, then leaves him to die and join the ranks of his undead army.
He tries to probe one of the zombies from his helicopter crew, but he cannot find them. That explains the shots he heard. Out of the corner of his eye, he sees Hanuno moving his right arm, ever so slightly. He starts toward the dying pilot, and then stops, he sees the pin lying in a puddle of blood and dives for the door. Azaka hits the ground rolling, as the helicopter explodes, thanks to the grenade on Hauno’s belt.
At the other end of the sidewalk, Jimmy is swiping his card again, reversing the direction of the sidewalk, and increasing the speed to 40 miles per hour. That should keep him away from the building, he thinks to himself. The explosion of the helicopter startles him. He looks toward the parking lot and sees the plumes of dark smoke billowing toward the sky. He directs his small band into the building lobby, and is just pulling the door closed, when the sound of an explosion from within the building rings out.



Chapter 41
Mike pulls his hand off the knob just as the door begins to open. The soldiers behind him all have their weapons aimed at the opening door. In a flash, a blurred figure darts through the opening does a forward somersault and lands in a perfect kneeling position, sweeping his weapon back and forth.
Mike calls out, wide eyed. “Captain Hellatoni, is that you?”
Brice answers. “General, Sir you have no idea how glad I am to see you.”
The soldiers stand down, as the Captain briefs the General. “Sir, the entire facility is overrun. Somehow that one handed zombie was able to infect everyone. I lost my whole scouting team. I was able to check the various levels on the closed circuit system. Those things are everywhere. I think that the security measures designed to keep people out of the building, made it impossible for anyone to escape. The explosion you heard was my last trip wire going off. I rigged up the armory hallway, in case any of those things came wandering down. I think the whole room must have gone up.”
Mike takes a few minutes to digest what he has just heard. He is convinced that the building is a loss, and that there is no reason to pursue advancing any further. “All right, listen up. Based on the status report from Captain Hellatoni, I have decided that we are going to retreat back through the tunnel and high tail it to the extraction point.”
One of the soldiers interrupts him. “Sir, excuse me for interrupting, but I think you need to see this.” The soldier says pointing at a black and white video monitor. 
The monitor is displaying an image from the front security corridor. It shows Jimmy, OhAy, Amy and four soldiers making their way into the building.
“Damn it! What the hell are they doing here?” Mike yells out. “Anyone know if there is a way we can contact them?”
One of the soldiers point to the public address microphone. “Sir, I think that microphone broadcasts through the entire building. I had security watch in this bunker one day, and the Officer of the Day used it to make the daily announcements.”
Mike grabs the microphone. “Jimmy, if you can hear me, stop. The building is overrun. I am taking my team out through the tunnel. All of you need to get out of the building.”
On the monitor, Mike sees that the group has come to a stop, and Jimmy is looking around.
“The camera is over your left shoulder.” Mike says.
Jimmy turns to face the camera. He shakes his head and mouths the word NO.
Mike yells into the microphone. “Damn it Jimmy, just get the hell out of the building. You soldiers, I am giving you a direct order, evacuate the building and take those three civilians with you, by force if necessary.”
Jimmy is writing something on his hand when the soldiers grab him. He pulls away, finishes writing and he holds his hand up to the camera. Breaker in parking lot… group of zombies approaching front of building…no retreat options.
“Son of a bitch!” Mike yells as he slams the microphone down on the desk. He looks around the room at the small group of soldiers, and then picks the microphone back up. “Alright, let Mr. Gaston go. Jimmy, we have to get out of the building and to the rendezvous point, or we are as good as dead. I want you to sit tight, and I will come and get you.”
Jimmy shakes his head ‘no’. He starts to write on the wall opposite the camera. 
“Jimmy, I can’t read that, the camera is too far away.” Mike’s voice booms out of the speakers.
Jimmy stops writing and throws the pen across the room. OhAy approaches one of the soldiers, reaches out and grabs something off of his belt and enters the view of the camera. She holds up a two way radio and a single finger, smiles, then hands the radio to Jimmy.
Mike puts the microphone down. “Anyone have a two way?”
“Here you go General.” Captain Hellatoni hands his radio to the General, as Jimmy’s voice emulates out of it.
“Mike, there is no way we can get out from the front. Even if we could, we will never make it to the rendezvous point in time. The President is going to give the go order in less than fifteen minutes. Our only hope is the bomb shelter.”
“Jimmy, I don’t know if the bomb shelter is an option, there is no telling how many zombies there are…”
Jimmy cuts him of, frantically waving his hands. “Mike, the bomb shelter is our only option. All we have to do is make it to an elevator, and then use our security cards. The zombies could not get down there; nobody else has the security clearance. Access to the shelter is the only security measure not overridden automatically. Mike there is an elevator less than 100 feet from where I am standing. I am taking this group to that elevator, and we are going to the bomb shelter.” He looks into the camera.
“Captain Hellatoni, do you think we can make it to the elevator?”
“I think so, General; that explosion probably took out most of the zombies.”
Mike walks away from the men, peers down the tunnel toward the outside of the building; he barks into the radio. “Jimmy, go ahead to the elevator, we are going to try to make it too. Keep the radio on channel one, and be careful.”
“Mike, we should not have any problem, like I said, all internal security has been automatically shut down due to the fire alarms. We can walk right down the hall to the elevator. You guys be careful, see you there.”
Mike clips the radio to his belt. “Alright, gather around men. It is no longer a realistic objective to reach the extraction point. Right now our best bet is to make it to the fallout shelter in the basement. I do not want any surprises coming in from outside. I want this tunnel closed, and then we are moving out.”
The soldiers react to follow the General’s orders, closing the tunnel entrance with a few grenades, and then form up outside in the hallway, ready to follow Captain Hellatoni to the elevator.



Chapter 42
Azaka feels foolish. He should not have allowed the human to outsmart him. That helicopter was his ride out of here. He knows full well, from probing the pilot’s mind, the President intends to drop a nuclear bomb right where he is standing. Most of his undead army will perish in the blast, those that do not will be easily eradicated by the soldiers that sweep through the area afterward. He looks toward the building, which he was held captive in for so many years, and starts toward it.
He knows that there is a bomb shelter in the lower bowels of the building. Thanks to the information he pulled from Hanuno’s mind, he knows that he has to get to that bomb shelter. Two Air Force bombers are already making their final approach to drop a medium range nuclear bomb right on the Syscorp complex.



Chapter 43
Brice takes the lead; Mike is next, with the small group of soldiers following in standard cover formation. The explosion in the armory has set off the sprinkler system. The steady flashing lights of the silent strobe alarm, and fine mist of water makes the hallway resemble a tropical rainforest during a lightning storm. The strobing lights are causing the men’s eyes to constantly contract and dilate. To say it is difficult to see is an understatement. The men stay close to the walls, moving as quietly as possible.
Brice stops at the end of the hallway, and signals for the group to stop as well. Mike approaches him.
“General, we are going to have to pass the berthing quarters, to reach the elevator. I am not sure what to expect. We both know how many men were assigned here; we have to assume the worst…”
“Captain, I don’t want to assume anything, I just want to get to that elevator, and then get into the shelter before the bomb hits.” Mike waves his hand, motioning for everyone to bunch in around him. “Alright men, this may get very ugly, the berthing unit is between us and the elevators. I want everyone locked, loaded and ready. Remember, single headshots only, and make them count. Captain, take us to the elevator.”



Chapter 44
It only takes a few minutes to disable the moving sidewalk, and then Azaka is sprinting toward the building. He tried to project his mind into the human that he had been trapped inside for all those years, but was unable to locate its mind. 
He reaches the lobby doors and has no problem entering, since the fire alarm has triggered the automatic lock override of all doors.
He burst through the lobby, into the main corridor, and runs right toward the elevator. He knows that he will need a security pass and code to get to the bomb shelter. His plan is to get inside the elevator, and hopefully catch a human heading toward the shelter. He finds the elevator, open, almost inviting him inside. The interior of the elevator is covered in blood, puddles on the floor, and sprays on the walls and ceiling. He smiles, knowing that the blood on the walls and ceiling came from a human; blood does not pump through the body of the undead. No sooner does he step in, the elevator doors close and the car begins to descend.



Chapter 45
The group of soldiers continues, into the main hallway, and find themselves engulfed in a haze resulting from the water vapors mixing with the smoke of the explosion. The strobing light make shadows dance against the walls, which only intensifies the difficulty the men are having seeing. Mike motions for everyone to get down into a prone position, and crawl down the hallway. 
The hundred foot hallway seems to have quadrupled in size. The doors to the berthing area are closed, but the sounds of shuffling feet, and bumped furniture spills out into the hallway. Each of the soldiers hold their breath as they inch past the doors. Once they have all passed, the last soldier rigs a trip wire across the hallway. 
When everyone is accounted for, Mike reaches up and pushes the elevator button. “Everybody stay down, and to the sides, we want to make sure the car is empty before we go barging in.”
The elevator glides to a stop with a single ‘ding’ preceding the opening of the doors. The haze and smoke swirls into the elevator car as soon as the doors open, making it impossible to see the inside of the car. Brice rolls away from the wall, past the opening, looking in as he rolls past, and ends up next to Mike on the opposite side of the opening.
“Captain, do you call that staying down and to the sides?” Whispers Mike.
Before Brice can respond, a shuffling noise escapes from inside the elevator, and then a pair of boots becomes visible. 



Chapter 46
It looks like a typical hospital room. Shiny linoleum floors, bright white walls and ceiling, with flooding florescent lighting bathing the room The large bed sits situated in the middle of the room, with its’ chrome rails and pneumatic pistons for perfect body adjustment. The small body in the bed makes it look all that much larger. A wheeled shelf is positioned over the bed and on the shelf is a tray with an untouched turkey sandwich, side of macaroni salad and unopened carton of chocolate milk.
There is a knock at the door, and then an elderly black woman dressed in white scrubs enters the room. She looks at the uneaten lunch and shakes her head.
“Julie Gaston, if you don’t start eating your meals you are never gonna get outta here.” She says with a smile on her face as she collects up the tray. “You want me to see if I can rassle you up something else, maybe some PB and J with a cup of chicken soup?”
Julie smiles, she likes the funny way Ms. B. says some words. “I am just not hungry Ms. Baker. I just wish my Dad would call.”
“I wish he would too; then I can tell him that you won’t eat.” Ms. Baker replies with another smile. “Honey, you know what the news said; some sort of interference in the sky is making it difficult for any type of phone calls to be made. I haven’t talked to my son since yesday morning. I will be back in fifteen minutes with your PB and J.” She smiled and walked out the door.
Julie leans to her right, and reaches for the phone on the nightstand. She puts the receiver to her ear, hoping to hear dial tone, but instead hears the same thing as the last twenty times she has checked. “All circuits are busy; please try your call again latter.”
Disgusted, she hangs up the phone, and clicks on the television. 



Chapter 47
The men in the hallway prepare for the worst. Suddenly a voice from inside the elevator breaks the silence. 
“Don’t be foolish. Just stay in the elevator and press the ‘door close’ button.”
Mike recognizes the voice immediately. “OhAy, is that you?”
“General, is that you out there?”
Jimmy joins the conversation. “Mike, oh man am I ever glad to hear your voice. Hurry up, get in…”
A thundering explosion interrupts him in mid-sentence. One of the soldiers inside the elevator instinctively fires a burst of bullets into the hallway; the soldiers in the hallway react to that firing and begin to fire their weapons down the hall as well. Every soldier with a weapon empties their clips before Mike can get anybody’s attention. 
“Damn it, cease fire, hold your fire. Captain, get these men under control.” The gunfire has only added to the smoke and haze, turning it into more of a smog, making it virtually impossible to see anything. 
Brice raises his voice to try and get the soldiers attention. “Listen up, stop firing your weapons, you are just wasting ammunition. We have got to get into the elevator, and get the hell out of here. That explosion was our trip wire, something set it off. On the double now, into the elevator, hurry up; no stragglers.”
“Mike, are you in here?” Asked Jimmy.
“I am, and I can’t see jack shit. Alright, listen up. If you can hear my voice, and you are not inside the elevator, you better move your ass; we are closing the doors now.” Mike bellowed.
The soldier standing at the front of the car feels one more man squeeze in as he is pushing the button. “You just made it buddy.”
As the doors close, the soldier screams out in pain as he feels teeth rip into the flesh of his face.



Chapter 48
Everyone has left the office, except the President, his chief of staff and the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs. The Chairman clears his throat and stands up.
“Mr. President, if I may speak frankly Sir, you have to reconsider this order. Do you want to go down in the history books as the first sitting American President, hell the only World leader since Truman to use an atomic weapon? On your own people, red-blooded American citizens; hell Mike Balchor is inside the zone Sir, are you prepared to throw him away?” He looks to the chief of staff. “Sid, you gotta talk some sense into him, this is ludicrous.”
The chief of staff stands up. “Listen Stan, we have been over every possible scenario, and bottom line is that it is his decision, and I stand behind him right or wrong.”
The President waves his hands, dismissing his longtime friend and chief of staff, and turns to face the Navy Admiral.
“Awe for Christ sake Stan, don’t lecture me about the use of force. What am I supposed to do, let this outbreak spread? We thought Ebola and SARs was bad, at least those only killed people; not turn them into flesh eating, invincible zombies. General Balchor knew what he was getting himself into, he understood the possible consequences. Unless you have a better plan, and I mean right this minute, you can jump on the bandwagon and play ball, or leave your resignation on my desk, the decision is up to you, either way doesn’t matter to me. Now get the hell out of here, I have a Nation to address.



Chapter 49
The screams quickly become gurgled, as the gnashing mouth finds its way down to the neck of the soldier, and both bodies fall to the floor. The arterial spray from the punctured jugular paints the walls, ceiling and bodies of everyone in the elevator. Amy lets out a piercing scream and drops to her knees, this is too much like the carnage in the bar, and she can’t take it. Unfortunately her screams draw the attention of the creature, and her fall places her on the same level. She does not even try to fight off the teeth as they rip into her.  Mike draws his knife from its sheaf and drives the eight inch blade into the ear of the zombie. Two soldiers follow his lead, and do the same for their comrade and Amy.
The elevator dings, and the doors open onto a large lobby with a steel door on the opposite wall. Mike wipes his knife blade on his pants. “Let’s just get inside the shelter, without anyone else dying. Jimmy, can you open the door please?”
Mike squats down in the lobby, cradling his head in his hands, as Jimmy uses his security card and access code to disengage the lock on the doors. Everyone files out of the hallway, into the shelter. Jimmy is about to lock the door, then stops when he notices the elevator doors have closed, after the soldiers have dragged out the three bodies.
“Mike, do you think we should call the elevator back down, and lock it on this floor, you know, just to be safe?”
Mike nods his head in agreement. “Give the pass and code to Captain Hellatoni. Captain, pick two men and stay here until the elevator comes back down. Use the pass and code to lock it in place, and then hustle back inside the shelter.”
“Yes Sir, General.”
“Mike, can I talk to you a minute?” Jimmy motions for Mike to step in closer. “Mike, no offense, but there is a reason the Captain doesn’t already have the code, he isn’t cleared. I will give him the pass to lock down the elevator, but not the code. We can watch on the close circuit TV, and let him in once the elevator is secure.” Jimmy says pointing to the cameras in the corners of the lobby.
“You are probably right.” Mike agrees. “Captain, we are going to follow protocol on this one. Once you secure the elevator, we will open the doors from inside. You have nothing to worry about, the entire lower level is a fall-out shelter, and behind the doors is just a secure bunker with a command center and living quarters.”
Jimmy locks the door as Brice pushes the elevator call button. The three men anxiously await the return of the elevator. They watch as the lights above the door illuminate in reverse order, indicating the decent of the car. 



Chapter 50
The radio in the cockpit of the LRS-B2 crackles to life, breaking the silence. “Condor this is SAC, we have green light confirmation from POTUS. Prepare to follow AFI-91-104 authentication for launch. Alpha, Foxtrot, Zero, Niner, One, Two, code-word purple.”
“SAC, this is Condor, roger that, Alpha, Foxtrot, Zero, Niner, One, Two, code-word purple. We have authentication, pilot and navigator key fobs have been inserted, launch on your mark.”
“Condor this is SAC, launch in three, two, one, mark.”
“SAC this is Condor, package is away, impact in T-minus three minutes. We are over and out.”
The aircraft begins a rapid accent banking to the right, and will be at the Kármán line in less than sixty seconds, in theory out of harm’s way from the aftershock of a nuclear explosion. The expectation being that the boundary of the thermosphere will buffer the shock wave and rebound it back toward earth. 



Chapter 51
The audible ding sounds just as the doors begin to open. Suddenly, the entire room starts to move; the shockwave from the explosion travels down the elevator shaft and all of the men are knocked off of their feet by the invisible column of force that escapes from the open doors of the elevator. The sound of the explosion resonates throughout the lobby; the steel door to the bunker vibrates in the doorframe.
Brice Hellatoni and the three soldiers are thrown against the wall with such force that every bone in their arms, legs and torso is shattered. Brice is the only one still alive, but probably not for long. His lungs have been punctured by his ribs and his spine has lacerated his heart. All of the smoke and smog from the other levels of the building has been dragged down by the shockwave and now fills the lobby from the floor to the ceiling. The only body moving is the one that was propelled out of the elevator, as the doors opened, and collided with Brice.
In theory, a fallout bomb shelter will provide ample protection from a nuclear ground burst impact. In simulated tests, two foot reinforced concrete walls will provide ample barrier against a nuclear blast after shock. In reality, a modern nuclear weapon has never been detonated. 
Inside the fallout bunker, theories are out the window. Everyone has been knocked off of their feet. Those closest to the walls now have perforated eardrums from the sound waves. The three soldiers that were leaning against the wall were launched across the room, each suffering numerous fractures. 
Jimmy picks himself up off the floor. “What the hell? I thought this was supposed to be a bomb shelter? I feel like I just got blown up.”
Mike is a bit slower getting off the floor, a trickle of blood is running down his face from his ear. “Jimmy, we gotta check on Captain Hellatoni and the men out in the lobby.”
“Cameras are out. We are going to have to open the door.” Jimmy responds. “OhAy are you alright?” Jimmy says as he approaches and helps her to her feet.
“Something tells me we are going to be down here a lot longer than we planned.” She says as she stands up.
Mike makes a quick assessment of the room. All but three soldiers are injured. The shelving units that were mounted against the walls are now twisted and broken and the contents are scattered all around the room. While taking in all the damage and carnage inside the room, a thought creeps into his mind and his face goes pale. He quickly approaches Jimmy and OhAy.
“Judging by the looks of this place, I doubt anyone outside these walls survived that blast. I am not so sure opening the door is going to do anything but expose us to any radiation that has found its way into the building.”
OhAy nods her head in agreement with Mike. “The General is right, those men out there could not have survived, even if they did, we cannot risk opening the door.”
Jimmy is flabbergasted. “Those men are out there because of me, it was my idea to bring the elevator back, and it was my idea to seal the door. We have to check and see if they are alright. I am sure that there are some radiation suits in here somewhere, this is a fallout shelter.”
Just then, a voice booms out over the speakers of the room. “This is Commander Comar, from Offutt Air Command. We have direct monitoring capabilities for all level five and above bomb bunkers in the United States. Once you engaged the airlock of the door, and a certified ground burst nuclear event occurred, our monitoring channel became active and override protocol was initiated.”
“Commander, this is General Michael Balchor. I am here with Dr. Okayo Alphonsine Solaine, Mr. James Gaston and a small group of men. I need to speak with the President.”
Jimmy interrupts. “We need to open this door; there are three men outside in the elevator lobby…”
Commander Comar’s voice booms over the speakers again. “We have been monitoring the entire lower level with infrared detectors. There is nobody alive anywhere in the building, except inside the shelter. General, Sir, I am sorry, but the President is preoccupied addressing the nation right now. We are also taking remote control of the bunker, in the interest of keeping you safe.” What the Commander didn’t share with Mike is that even though the infrared isn’t picking anything up, the motion sensors are. Something is moving outside the bunker.



Chapter 52
The television is tuned into some sitcom, about nothing in particular. The volume is low. The man on the screen that is serving up soup is suddenly replaced by a test pattern accompanied by an annoying hum. As abruptly as it appeared, the test pattern is gone, replaced by an older man sitting at a desk.
“My fellow Americans, it is with great sadness that I address you this evening. Earlier today, citizens of this great nation came under attack in a deliberate and deadly terrorist act. We are still sorting out the details; however I am prepared to confirm that a low level nuclear detonation has occurred in the town of Apollo, a small rural area in western Pennsylvania. Our first priority is to isolate the impact point, and get help to those who have been injured in surrounding areas. I have already spoken with the Governor of Pennsylvania, and I have ordered the National Guard to secure the outer perimeter while a full military force is deployed into the area. I have declared Marshall Law in Pennsylvania, Ohio, West Virginia and Maryland and I am imposing a dusk to dawn curfew across the nation. All travel to and from the east coast is suspended indefinitely, and all non-military air traffic in the United States has been grounded. I ask that each of you cooperate with local authorities. Once it has been determined what level of radiation, if any, is present reporters and news crews will be permitted into the area, on a very limited basis. Due to the nature of the disaster, all lines of communication have been compromised. We have arranged for professionals from all major communication companies to diligently work on restoring communication and data networks. Once we have something new to report, I will address you again. Until that time, please join me in sending out prayers to everyone with loved ones in the Western Pennsylvania area.”
Tears are running down Julies face, as she screams out hysterically.



Chapter 53
The red light on the camera goes out, indicating that the live feed is off, and the President gets up and walks away from his desk.
“Somebody give me an update now, what is the eradication rate?”
“Sir, we obtained just the action that we were hoping for, the blast took out ninety-nine percent of the creatures. Sir, no one made it to the extraction point.” Replied Sid Coswell, the white house chief of staff.
“Damn it! Nobody made it, Sid?”
“Sir, General Balchor and his group made it into the fall out bunker in the subterranean level of the Syscorp facility.”
“That is fantastic news; I want a rescue team routed to the facility within the hour.”
Sid steps in close to the President. “Sir, we have detected non-infrared related motion on various levels of the facility, including directly outside the bunker. We have no way of knowing what the contamination level is.”
“Exactly what are you saying to me Sid?”
“Mr. President, there are two more LRS-B2 bomber approximately thirty minutes outside of Apollo airspace. Each bomber is carrying two 12,000 pound BLU-113 seismic bunker busters.”
The President looks around the room. “So everyone thinks that we should cut our loses and level Syscorp along with everyone alive inside?”
Sid answers for the room. “And everything not alive, Sir. We cannot risk the contaminant escaping. We have already secured a new specimen, so why take the risk?”
The president rings his hands, and then runs them through his hair. “Radio the pilots, and tell them not to miss. I am going up to the residence to take a shower and have a drink. Let me know when it is done.”



Chapter 54
The bombers are cruising at 18,000 feet when the four 12,000 pound bombs are released. They are traveling downward at over 170 MPH, and make a distinctive whistling sound as they descend. They collide with the building and ground at an impact force of 750 MPH. The force of the impact creates shockwave equivalent to a 7.5 magnitude earthquake. Just as designed a secondary rocket boost engages as soon the bombs make contact with the ground, driving them deeper. Each bomb burrows until encountering concrete thicker than six feet; or an air pocket, which usually represents a shelter or hideout.
Once the bombs stop burrowing, either by design, or loss of inertia, the countdown begins. The bombs are engineered not to explode on impact, but rather to remain dormant; lulling bunker inhabitants to believe that the bombs were either duds, or that the ground impact was the explosion.
Inside the bunker, Mike recognizes the sound of the bombs burrowing immediately. He decides not to say anything, knowing full well that there is nothing he or anyone else inside the bunker can do now. Once the bombs find the concrete around the bunker, the modified warhead will detonate, killing everyone inside the bunker.
Outside the bunker, Azaka also recognizes the sound, thanks to the memory banks of Breaker. He is not as willing to give up, and drags himself to the damaged elevator shaft, and begins to pull himself up the cables, toward the surface and out of the blast zone. He knows all he has to do is make it to the surface, and he has a chance to continue his vengeance against the humans. 
What Azaka doesn’t know is that one of the bombs stopped burrowing once it made it through the ground, and into the main lobby. It is sitting in the main hallway, leading up to the elevator, in the process of counting down.
He reaches the main floor, and pulls himself out of the elevator, and is face to face with the bomb. He closes his eyes and desperately searches for the mind of one of his zombies, outside of the building and blast zone, but finds none. He does not know how long he has until the bomb explodes, and decides that it is time to leave this plane of existence, while he still can. His final vengeance will have to be surviving, while the humans perish. He is about to open his eyes, then stops and smiles. He pulls himself across the floor, and grabs ahold of the bomb. He lurches, with all of his immortal might, and forces his body and the bomb back into the elevator shaft. Gravity does the rest of the work, delivering the bomb right to the doorstep of the shelter. The smile is gone from his face, and his eyes are again closed as the bomb explodes.



Chapter 55
The pilot of the JAL Flight 820, a Boeing 773, was so confident that he was not leaving that he had already called his wife and told her not to expect him home. 
The United States Military is at DEFCON 3, and all non-military air traffic has been suspended. The only reason that the Japanese airline is still on the runway is that it is an international flight. 
Obviously, the single passenger in the first class cabin had enough influence to override the grounding order. Nobody is more surprised that the flight received clearance to take off; he has suspicions who or more precisely what, the passenger in first class is; but he would never utter it aloud. He knew too well, you can say what you want about the more famous Italian mob, but the real gangsters are Japanese Yakuza. Yakuza had been known to kill entire generations of a family to settle a debt. 
In total there are thirty-five passengers aboard, the plane designed to carry 285, all entourage members of the lone occupant of the first class cabin. He is speaking into a satellite phone. “Watashitachiha, pakkēji o kakuho shite ori, hon'no sū-bu de kūki ni narimasu. Tekisetsuna refrigoration ga kassōro de taiki shite iru to no transportaion o o mochidesu.” He powers off the phone, and pushes the flight attendant call button.
A young blonde, wearing very little, approaches his seat (JAL understands that Japanese businessman enjoy ‘diverse’ flight attendants). “Can I get you something sweetie?”
He hands her a soda can with no label. “Put in freezer, I want very cold. You understand?”
She smiles, nods her head yes and takes the can. As she walks away, she can feel his eyes glued to her ass. She looks back over her shoulder and smiles as she starts down the steps to the galley.
She mumbles under her breath, to nobody but herself. “I understand that a can of soda will explode in the freezer, you stupid bastard.” She tosses the can onto a countertop but it misses and strikes a knife, hanging from a rack, just right; sending the knife in a boomerang motion toward her. She puts her hands up instinctively, and the knife slices through her thumb and index finger. The cut isn’t bad, but it is bleeding. 
The soda can lands on the ground, and she scrambles to grabs it, with her injured hand, before realizing that she is cut. The can is leaking, something, but definitely not soda. Whatever it is, it runs down her hand, into the cuts on her fingers, mingling with her blood.
Once she realizes that her hand is bleeding, she wipes off the can and sets it down on the countertop, she uses the rag that she wiped the can with to apply pressure to her cuts until she can bandage them. 
Inside her body, her white blood cells are multiplying and rushing toward her wounds, to fight an already lost battle.
The pilot’s voice floats through the plane, as he makes his pre-take off announcement.
“Ladies and Gentlemen, we have been cleared for takeoff, and will taxi to the runway in a moment. Please secure all lose items, and fasten your seat belts. Crew members please prepare for departure.”
The perky blonde flight attendant suddenly feels nauseous; she dashes for the bathroom, as the plane begins to move.



Chapter 56
The knock on the door is faint, but firm. The President opens it and waves Sid into the room. “Well?”
“The buildings collapsed as a result of the aftershock of the impact of the bombs; all four performed as expected. We are no longer detecting any life or movement in the area.”
“Fine. Anything else?”
“Sir, we can run with the story that the General and his group were victims of the terrorist attack. We are already putting the spin out there that the terrorist had overtaken the building, and were hunkered down inside. We dropped the bombs to kill them and avenge the attack they made.”
“Yes, yes, sounds good. Give me a couple of hours and I will make another address.”
“Sir, there is one other thing, pretty minor but still.”
“What is it?”
“Seems a JAL passenger jet disregarded the no fly order, and took off from Logan International. It is currently over the Mid-West.”
“Well, get a couple of F-14’s up there next to it, and get me Japan on the line. That plane is coming back down to United States soil, either on its own, or in pieces. We will never be able to sell the terrorist attack story if we let that plane fly away.”
“Yes Sir.”



Chapter 57
Six hours after taking off from Boston, JAL Flight 820 is on the ground at LAX. The runway is congested with government sedans, military vehicles and limos with Japanese diplomatic plates. Armed marines in full combat gear are keeping a perimeter around the plane.
The unsuspecting members of the Yakuza are about to be taken into custody, for funding the terrorist attack on the east coast; once the Japanese ambassador convinces (lies) them that they are all being whisked off to the embassy. 
The first person off of the plane leaves on a stretcher. The perky blonde flight attendant is pale as a ghost, and is running a fever of a hundred and three. She is quickly ushered into the ambulance, even though one of the EMT’s can be overheard saying that he thinks they are losing her.
They have placed an oxygen mask over her face, and are about to blast her with the defibrillator for the second time, when her eyelids flutter.
“Hold on, I think she is coming around.”
The other EMT puts the defibrillator down, and places his head on her chest, listening for breathing and a heartbeat. “I can’t hear her lungs or heart.”
“Her eyes are fluttering man, maybe she is stroking out. I am gonna start her on fluids. Get us moving, and get L.A. Memorial on the radio, tell them we are heading there; they have the best trauma center around.”
Since both of the EMTs are preoccupied, neither one notices her eyes are wide open pupils glowing fiery red.



Afterword
First, I just want to address the fact that I took some big liberties with the actual geographic layout of the Apollo Pennsylvania area. I know that real places are not where they belong, and roads don’t go where they are supposed to. This is a work of fiction, inspired by reality, I mean come on everyone knows that zombies are not real…right?
Anyway, I wanted to incorporate some real landmarks and places from the area, but I needed to make them fit the story. Anyone from the area will certainly know the inspiration for Valhalla, the ‘Biker Bar’, and Syscorp the fenced in facility in the middle of nowhere.
Apollo was indeed engulfed in controversy in the 1960’s due to missing uranium and a radiation leak at a power generating station, which I dramatized a bit, and then again in the final week of 1979 when two men went on an alleged killing spree just for the fun of it.
I also had to give credit to the ‘Godfather’ of modern day zombies (especially in Pittsburgh) George A Romero by incorporating a brief homage to his 1968 cult classic, Night of the Living Dead, when Ross remembers a government cover up from his childhood in chapter ten.
Now, just a quick note to those that took the time to read Project Zulu, I wish to express a heartfelt Thank You! If my first endeavor, Unconditional would not have been as successful and well received, neither you, nor anyone else would have had the opportunity to read Project Zulu.
I good bit of the success of Unconditional is a result of readers that took the time to express their opinions by creating and publishing honest and pointed reviews on Amazon and or Barnes and Noble. I wish there was a way for me to personally thank each and every reviewer, whether the review was fantastic, good, just O.K or bad. Honest feedback is what makes every Author better.
I came up with, what I believe to be, a unique way to say “Thanks!” One of the short stories from my book Faded Shorts uses anagrams as part of the plot. I came up with that thought, while also working on Project Zulu and decided to use it again.
Everyone that wrote a review for Unconditional, or Faded Shorts was used as a character in Project Zulu. I created an anagram of the name of the reviewer (If I knew who you were, or suspected it, I used your real name), and then killed that character at some point of the book. 
So, much like the afterword of Unconditional hopefully did, I hope this afterword sends you flipping back through the pages, looking for yourself. Thank You! The Cast of Characters:  Adam Tugto, Chen Cloy Chin, Elmer Kinoz, Daphne Joelis, Ryan Almasung Dan Gillsir, Erik Zesttrim, Thor Seven Carina Hitshorn, Mia Rae, Greta Prosty, Jen Ginnjs, Hank Sonrox, Brice Hellatoni, Jeb Chonk, Cam Alk, (and the only one character responsible for multiple reviews), Amy Sunoon--- Anonymous.
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